ADAPTATION AND VALIDATION OF A SCALE FOR MEASURING SELF-COMPASSION IN EARLY CHILDHOOD

By

JILLIAN LERAE BAILEY

Bachelor of Science in Psychology Oregon State University Corvallis, OR 2013

Master of Science in Child Development San Diego State University San Diego, CA 2015

> Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY July, 2020

ADAPTATION AND VALIDATION OF A SCALE

FOR MEASURING SELF-COMPASSION IN

EARLY CHILDHOOD

Dissertation Approved:

Dr. Amy Payton

Dissertation Advisor

Dr. Isaac Washburn

Dr. Laura Hubbs-Tait

Dr. Lucia Ciciolla

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation is the result of a goal set in 2010 to bring the resilience mechanism, selfcompassion, to early childhood. I need to thank my little lab rats, Anna, Juju, and Chloe, who completed pre-piloting child tasks that helped to me to understand better the ways in which selfcompassion is demonstrated in early childhood. I owe the adaptation of the self-compassion scale to these sweet girls and to their mother, Robin, for her ongoing support and friendship.

Ruby Mae Cutter, you inspire me every single day to wake up and make this world a better place for children your age. You are a precious 2 year old Oregonian who is kind, smart and so important. I am honored to forever be your Auntie Jill and friend. I am also grateful to your amazing mother, my sister and friend. Rachel, thank you for the nightly Facetime chats and for your endless support.

There have been many who have uniquely and significantly touched my life but my husband of three years is my number one source of inspiration. His literal rags-to-riches story is legendary to me and his example made it clear that I could keep pushing and apply for the PhD. My love for research and early development has deeply flourished at Oklahoma State University and continues to grow because of this man. Thank you, Logan Bailey, for always watching out for my head and my heart.

My chair and advisor, Isaac Washburn and Amy Payton have been my mentors during this process and I want to express my overwhelming gratitude to them. I am thankful to Dr. Amy Payton for her guidance of me and for the many opportunities she gave that supported me in becoming a better researcher, instructor, and colleague. Dr. Isaac Washburn assisted me with several statistical conundrums, last minute meetings, and editing during my last year at OSU and I could not be more appreciative. Dr. Laura Hubbs-Tait lived up to her reputation for being brilliant and helpful during each phase of this process, and I am ever grateful to Dr. Lucia Ciciolla for her encouraging and pertinent input, which really enhanced the final product of this work. Both of these women in addition to Dr. Payton and Dr. Washburn are kind and intelligent professionals with whom I hope to work with in the future. I look forward to seeing what they will do for the next generation.

Lastly, I need to thank the main woman in my life for her countless conversations with me about how to effectively promote the well-being of young children everywhere. Momma, thank you for caring so much about these precious souls. Your love for these little ones fills me with enthusiasm to keep working with them and for them. I believe this work in early self-compassion could be instrumental in the growth of emotional stability for the next generation and I am thankful to all who have contributed to the progress made toward this goal.

Name: JILLIAN BAILEY

Date of Degree: JULY, 2020

Title of Study: ADAPTATION AND VALIDATION OF A SCALE FOR MEASURING SELF-COMPASSION IN EARLY CHILDHOOD

Major Field: HUMAN SCIENCES

Abstract: The overarching goal of this research was to adapt and validate a scale for measuring self-compassion in early childhood. The initial 23-item scale was adapted from Neff's (2003a) original self-compassion scale and asked parents about concrete behaviors and coping methods of their child. Items assessed children's early expressions of self-kindness, common humanity, mindfulness, self-judgment, isolation, and over-identification. Confirmatory factor analysis was used during pilot testing with parents (N=70), where good fit was demonstrated for a 2-factor model involving one positive and one negative factor of early self-compassion. The factors were tested again with a second sample of parents (N=185) and revealed adequate fit indices for this 2-factor structure on both factor 1 (χ^2 = 2.27, p= .81, RMSEA= .000, RMSEA upper bound= .06, CFI= 1.00, TLI= 1.05, SRMR= .018) and factor 2 (χ^2 = 8.78, p= .119, RMSEA= .066, RMSEA upper bound= .137, CFI= .983, TLI= .967, SRMR= .026). Construct, convergent, and concurrent validity were determined for the Self-Compassion Scale for Early Childhood (SCS-EC). Specifically, results revealed significant associations between early self-compassion and other characteristics such as early emotion regulation, self-esteem, emotional well-being, temperament, and internalizing behaviors. Furthermore, internal consistency reliability was acceptable for both positive (α =.726) and negative factors (α =.756). Findings also revealed preliminarily evidence of a hypothesized socialization process due to congruence between parent and child emotion-related characteristics involving self-compassion and emotion regulation. This research should be considered as introductory and holds implications that pertain to positive parenting as well as both clinical and academic settings. Future research will continue to focus on the underpinnings of early emerging self-compassion and the socialization process.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	7
History of Self-Compassion	7
What Self-Compassion is Not	12
Feasibility of Measuring Self-Compassion in Early Childhood	17
Early Development and Transmission of Emotion Regulation	21
Behavioral Indicators of Self-Compassion in Early Childhood	23
Emerging Self-Compassion in the Context of the Family	
Measure Development	
III. METHODOLOGY	44
Participants and Procedures	44
Measures	46
IV. RESULTS	52
Descriptive Statistics for SCS-EC items	52
Sample Characteristics	
Confirmatory Factor Analysis and Internal Consistency Reliability	
Validity and Hypothesis Testing	
V. DISCUSSION	
Demographic Sample Characteristics	
Self-Compassion Scale for Early Childhood (SCS-EC): 2-Factor Model	
Factor 1: Positive Self-Compassion in Early Childhood	65
Factor 2: Negative Self-Compassion in Early Childhood	66
Examination of Early Childhood and Parent Scales	
Hypothesis Testing	
Strengths, Limitations and Future Directions	74

Chapter	Page
VI. CONCLUSION	76
REFERENCES	77
APPENDICES	98
APPENDIX A: TABLES	98
APPENDIX B: SCS-EC 2-FACTOR MODEL	. 106
APPENDIX C: KEY DIFFERENCES BETWEEN SELF- COMPASSION AND SELF-ESTEEM	
APPENDIX D: SUPPORTING LITERATURE BEHIND MEASURE DEVELOPMENT OF THE SCS-EC	. 108
APPENDIX E: SELF-COMPASSION IN ADULTHOOD COMPARED TO EARLY CHILDHOOD	. 109
APPENDIX F: INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL	. 111

LIST OF TABLES

Table

Page

98
99
100
101
102
103
104
105

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

There is growing concern over childhood mental health issues due to rising trends in mental health diagnoses and suicide rates among youth (Kalb et al., 2019), which have stimulated recent ambitions to emphasize social and emotional learning (SEL) in early childhood (Wakchlag & Danis, 2009; Hoffmann et al., 2020). Highlighted by an expulsion rate that is three times higher for preschool-aged children than grades K-12, national experts agree that early SEL is vital for supporting the whole child in achieving academic success and overall well-being (Gilliam, 2005; Blyth et al., 2019). Recent research corresponds with these efforts to support the development of emotion regulation, a component of SEL, through implementation of evidence-based curricula in early academic years (Hoffmann et al., 2020).

The ability to emotionally regulate is a necessary, dynamic process for social and emotional well-being and is commonly denoted as the effective awareness, processing and management of emotions (Morris et al., 2017). Emotion regulation is known to develop in the context of warm and supportive relationships, which influence social and emotional developmental outcomes and overall well-being for children (Morris et al., 2007; Jones et al., 2019). Emphasized as essential abilities for successful coping and emotion management, emotion regulation competencies are built into SEL curricula and predict significant advances in academic performance and school readiness (Hoffmann et al., 2020; Brackett et al., 2012). A specific aim of many SEL programs, such as MindUp and RULER, is to improve mindful awareness and emotional intelligence aspects of emotion regulation (Jones et al., 2019; Hoffmann et al., 2020). Early childhood mindfulness programs incorporate themes of selfcompassion, as mindfulness is one of three facets of self-compassion, along with self-kindness and common humanity (Flook et al., 2015). One program called the Kindness Curriculum (KC Intervention), for example, lasted 12 weeks long and served as a mindfulness-based intervention for improving SEL abilities for young children. The KC intervention was specifically designed to nurture the development of attentional focus, empathy, perspective-taking, prosociality and compassion for others, which resulted in the improvement of emotion regulation in a sample of preschool-aged children (Flook et al., 2015).

There are clear themes of self-compassion in many SEL intervention curricula, however, there is currently no scale for researchers to measure self-compassion in early childhood, making it impossible to determine whether these interventions are even affecting self-compassion capacities in young children. Self-compassion is consistently listed as a core strategy for improving emotion regulation, and may serve as a powerful tool for positive mental health in early childhood (Neff, 2003a; Trompetter et al., 2017). The aim of this research is to further emphasize the importance of early social and emotional learning by adapting a scale for measuring self-compassion in early childhood.

Self-compassion has been described as an excellent identifier of psychological well-being for adults, adolescents, and children as young as 9 years old (Neff, Kirkpatrick, & Rude, 2007; Stolow et al., 2016). Comprised of self-kindness, common humanity and mindfulness, and opposing themes of self-judgment, isolation and over-identification, self-compassion is derived from Buddhist psychological thought as a way of kindly relating to oneself (Neff et al., 2019).

Research to date suggests the practice of self-compassion tends to reduce negative cognitions such as rumination and perceived stress (Germer & Neff, 2019; Frostadottir, & Dorjee, 2019). Furthermore, highly self-compassionate individuals tend to hold and maintain feelings of competency, personal initiative, joy, life satisfaction, and interconnectedness with others (Neff, Rude, & Kirkpatrick, 2007; Neff & Germer, 2013).

Although there is no research to date on self-compassion in early childhood, demonstrations of early mental health issues reflective of low self-compassion in adults have been noted in children as young as 3 years old (Zero to Three, 2016). Previous research illustrates individuals with low self-compassion as having a critical attitude toward themselves, which contributes to low interconnectedness with others and feelings of over-identification with negative aspects of the personality (Neff et al., 2019). In one study, Stolow and colleagues (2016) found a negative and robust association between early depressive symptoms and selfcompassion in a sample of young children (M = 9.9 years, SD = .61 years). Corresponding demonstrations of social withdrawal, anxiety, attentional deficits, and other issues related to internalizing and externalizing behaviors are noted in children much younger (Wakchlag & Danis, 2009; Zero to Three, 2016).

Associated with decreased patience and understanding toward oneself, early emotion dysregulation can lead to maladjustment later in life (Neff, 2003a; Bierman et al., 2015). In a sample of youth seeking clinical treatment for substance abuse (M=19.49), self-compassion levels for adolescents predicted emotion dysregulation beyond the extent of maltreatment they had experienced in their youth (Vettese et al., 2011). Additionally, Vettese and colleagues (2011) uncovered self-compassion to have mediated the association between early abuse severity and later emotion dysregulation, mitigating the negative impact on psychological well-being. In

conjunction with these findings, longitudinal designs have revealed long-lasting benefits associated with adolescent and adult self-compassion, and more recently, reduced depression among elementary school children (Marshall et al., 2015; Stolow et al., 2016).

Previous research reveals critical parenting plays a role in the development of internalizing behaviors in young children such as depression, anxiety, and self-criticism (McCranie, & Bass, 1984). A buffer to self-criticism, self-compassion components of selfkindness, common humanity, and mindfulness appear to develop within the context of securely attached relationships and in supportive environments (Neff & McGehee, 2010; Moreira et al., 2018). Research supports this notion that parents may raise their children to practice a personal perspective that is either compassionate or dismissive by providing them with either warm support or critical evaluation (Neff & McGehee, 2010). In one study, Neff & McGehee (2010) found that positively functioning families with warm and harmonious family climates buffered against early-adolescent self-criticism and other harmful attributes made toward the self. The buffering effect this resilience mechanism has on negative outcomes, in combination with its promotion of protective factors, may assist children in maintaining secure relationships as they age (Neff & McGehee, 2010; Trompetter et al., 2017). By modeling a self-compassionate lifestyle, caregivers may impart these regulating skills onto their offspring, as hypothesized in the current study.

Numerous measures have been created to assess characteristics that emerge within the first four years of life such as mindfulness and emotion regulation. Scales such as the Emotion Regulation Checklist (ERC) and the flanker task are often used to identify early aspects of emotional characteristics related to executive functioning and signs of maladaptive adjustment (Shields & Cicchetti, 1995; Zelazo et al., 2013). There is reason to believe that self-compassion

is another positive characteristic that also emerges within the first four years of life (Trompetter et al., 2017). In order to meet the long-term goal of supplying this SEL mechanism for the improvement of early social and emotional well-being, the aim of the current study is to adapt and pilot a valid and reliable scale for measuring self-compassion in early childhood that is based on parent report.

This research is guided by three main questions surrounding the delivery of the early childhood self-compassion scale to parents. First, does the adapted scale reflect a valid and reliable measurement of self-compassion in early childhood? It is hypothesized that construct, convergent, and criterion validity, and reliability will be determined for this adapted scale. In line with previous research on self-compassion in childhood (M = 9.9; Stolow et al., 2016), it is also hypothesized that items will load on two factors (positive self-compassion and negative self-compassion).

Second, will early self-compassion be associated with early childhood emotion-related characteristics including emotion regulation, empathy, self-esteem, emotional well-being, and temperament, and negatively with internalizing behaviors? Significantly higher levels of personal initiative, mindfulness, perspective-taking, and competence found in self-compassionate individuals leads this prediction (Neff, 2003b; Neff et al., 2005). Negative associations between self-compassion and social withdraw, depression, and insecure attachment lead this hypothesis (Neff, Rude, & Kirkpatrick, 2007; Jiang et al., 2017).

Third, can we empirically examine an association between parent and child emotionrelated characteristics? It is hypothesized that parent self-compassion, emotion regulation, and empathy will be related to child emotion regulation and empathy as preliminary evidence of a socialization process that occurs when emotion-related characteristics are demonstrated and

passed on from parent to child. Early indications of such a pattern may provide further evidence that self-compassion emerges through the parent-child relationship (Moreira et al., 2018). We expect to find that self-compassion begins to develop as early as emotion regulation abilities emerge, which is within the first four years of life (Eisenberg & Morris, 2002). Rationale of the need to establish a scale for measuring self-compassion in early childhood illustrates the urgency to strengthen positive self-relatedness, relatedness to the suffering of others, and mindfulness during the first four years of life when the foundation for social and emotional development is laid (Eisenberg & Morris, 2002).

In summary, self-compassion appears to serve as a positive characteristic and strategy for emotion regulation improvement that develops within the context of the family (Trompetter et al., 2017; Neff & McGehee, 2010; Moreira et al., 2018). This research is novel in the development of a scale that may assist in identifying extremes in negative self-relating behavior. Negative cognitions that contribute to self-criticism, social withdrawal, over-identification with failures, and low self-esteem may be identified earlier for individuals by the development of this scale. Once a valid and reliable early childhood self-compassion scale is established, we can also determine the underpinnings of how self-compassion develops early in the lifespan. Mindfulness and emotion regulation are other indicators of mental well-being that are examined within the first four years of life as skills that can be strengthened with intervention. Thus, there is reason to believe that self-compassion emerges as a detectable characteristic in early childhood. With this adapted scale, the proposal of this research is to allow for the examination of self-compassion over the course of the lifespan, beginning in early childhood.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Bodies of literature that contributed to the development of the adapted scale for measuring self-compassion in early childhood are examined in this chapter. This research-based literature is drawn from to support the establishment of this scale for use in early childhood. The history of self-compassion as a construct is discussed in reference to the benefits obtained by adults, adolescents, and children as young as nine years old. Behavioral indications of early selfcompassion are listed under each of the six components of self-compassion: (a) self-kindness, (b) self-judgment, (c) common humanity, (d) isolation, (e) mindfulness, and (f) over-identification. Hypothesized underpinnings of how self-compassion is socialized in the context of the household and family environment are discussed and procedures taken by the primary investigator during measure development are lastly discussed in this review of the literature.

History of Self-Compassion

An eastern philosophical way of kindly relating to oneself, self-compassion is similar in origin to aspects of Buddhist psychological thought such as mindfulness (Neff et al., 2019). Self-compassion can be understood as the same care and consideration shown to a friend in need, turned inward toward the self (Neff, 2003a). When a friend requires comfort and empathy, one is typically willing to fill those emotional needs for them, however, many are unwilling to provide themselves with the same attentive care. Research reveals self-compassion as an excellent

identifier of overall mental health that can be maintained with practice over time (Neff, Kirkpatrick & Rude, 2007; Neff & Germer, 2013).

This mode of cognitive resilience reached western attention much later in the 21st century, generating much intrigue and recognition as a potential tool for enhancing psychological well-being (Neff, 2003b). Research suggests that individuals with higher compassion toward themselves experience lower negative affect (i.e., upset, nervousness), enhanced goal achievement, and fewer negative cognitions such as brooding ruminations and thought suppression (Neff et al, 2005; Neff, Rude, & Kirkpatrick, 2007; Neff, 2003a). Research also indicates that self-compassionate individuals possess higher self-esteem, a greater joy for learning, hope, and overall life satisfaction compared to those with lower self-compassion (Neff, 2003a; Neff et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2016).

Self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness, alongside inverse elements of selfjudgment, isolation, and over-identification comprise an individual's total self-compassion score (2003a; Neff et al., 2019). Neff and colleagues (2019) reveal these six components of selfcompassion to mutually interact to form an overall self-compassionate mindset. By generating a greater sense of positive self-regard, incorporating better perspective-taking abilities, and achieving a higher level of mindful regulation and awareness, the self-compassionate individual is better able to cope with difficult emotions and solve problems with confidence (Leary et al., 2007). This developing characteristic holds potential benefits for all ages. The paradoxical statement regarding self-compassion training, "when we suffer, we practice not to feel better but *because* we feel bad" (Germer & Neff, 2019) captures the essence of what sets self-compassion apart from other practices, including self-esteem tactics taught in early childhood. By introducing healthy coping mechanisms, not to immediately feel better but to comfort ourselves in moments of suffering, long-term wisdom and resilience are invigorated rather than egocentric cognitions (Neff, Rude, & Kirkpatrick, 2007; Neff, 2003b).

Bringing self-compassion to early childhood has implications for promoting healthy attitudes toward early on in life. There is also potential to preventively mitigate the trajectory toward negative outcomes that research has associated with low self-compassion in adults, adolescents and children (Stolow et al., 2016; see also Neff, Kirkpatrick, & Rude, 2007; Neff & McGehee, 2010). Efforts toward accomplishing this goal are already underway. In one longitudinal study assessing self-compassion levels among a group of young students (M ages = 9.9, 12.7, and 16 years), higher levels of self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness facets of self-compassion were associated with reductions in depressive symptoms (Stolow et al., 2016).

Relatedly, several mindfulness programs are currently implemented to target the emotional processes of children under the age of four years for preventive and interventive purposes (Flook et al., 2015; Harpin et al., 2016). Neff, Rude and Kirkpatrick (2007) further explain mindfulness as a core facet of self-compassion that involves accepting the self during hardships by taking a balanced perspective of one's internal state and by facing negative features of the personality head on without indulging in self-pity. With strong components of self-compassion, such as mindfulness, already included in preschool and elementary level curricula with associated positive outcomes, a scale for measuring self-compassion in early childhood is suggested in this paper.

Self-Kindness

In contrast to self-critical thoughts and behaviors, self-kindness encompasses internal understanding and acceptance of personal shortcomings and human error (Neff, 2003b). Self-

kindness includes taking the initiative to be assertive for oneself, providing self-care during moments of suffering, and genuine self-forgiveness for past mistakes (Neff, Rude, & Kirkpatrick, 2007; Gilbert & Woodyatt, 2017). Kindness pointed inward appears to strengthen emotional balance in the face of outward criticism and sustain feelings of self-worth significantly more effectively than that of self-esteem (Leary et al., 2006; Neff & Vonk, 2009). Additional key features of self-kindness involve empathetic concern for oneself and gratitude for others (Neff, 2003b), which leave little room for narcissism to permeate the personality with an inflated ego. Research indicates this cognitive avenue toward self-acceptance as particularly useful in moments of failure, where feelings of inadequacy are met with gentle kindness rather than critical inner dialogue (Neff, Rude, & Kirkpatrick, 2007).

Self-Judgment

Self-judgment has been defined as a strict categorization process for labeling oneself negatively without considering all direct factors (Goldstein & Kornfield, 1987; Neff, 2003a). Critical self-evaluation can hinder task performance, as harsh judgments tend to lower confidence and perceptions of self-worth (Neff, 2003a; Neff et al., 2005). More broadly, harsh criticism with oneself can severely impede personal growth and well-being over time, and contribute to poorer psychological functioning (Neff, Rude, & Kirkpatrick, 2007; Neff & Germer, 2013). In contrast, highly self-compassionate individuals are found to face challenges with self-care and without being stunted from accomplishing personal goals by the dread of failure (Neff, et. al., 2005).

Common Humanity

The common humanity mindset juxtaposes with the concept of isolation and is defined as the recognition that all live imperfectly and experience suffering and distress in life (Germer &

Neff, 2019). Additionally, self-compassionate people see their situations as inclusive with the rest of humanity and with awareness that feelings of anger, grief, and internal suffering are common emotions known to all (Neff, 2003b). Acknowledging this shared humanity during difficult times can provide the understanding and acceptance necessary for maintaining positive self-regard (Neff, 2003b). The tendency to disassociate from the pain of others is replaced with an empathetic reframing of personal suffering in the context of the shared human experience (Neff, 2003b). Moreover, this mindset contrasts with feelings of emotional isolation by protectively shielding feelings of interconnectedness with others (Germer & Neff, 2019).

Isolation

Isolation contrasts with common humanity by the degree to which individuals exhibit feelings of interconnectedness with others. Feelings of emotional isolation often stem from a sense of heightened self-consciousness extending from harsh criticisms and emphasized identification with failures (Brown, 1999; Goldstein & Kornfield, 1987). High levels of selfjudgment can contribute to feelings of isolation by narrowing the focus of blame and distress onto oneself rather than objectively acknowledging that pain is experienced by all (Neff, 2003b). Mindful awareness and self-kindness can also mitigate feelings of isolation by replacing negative cognitions with feelings of contentment and competency (Neff, 2003b; Elkind, 1967).

Mindfulness

Mindfulness, the third component of self-compassion, contrasts with over-identification and involves cognitive engagement in the present moment with nonjudgmental awareness toward the self (Hölzel et al., 2011). Mindfulness does not involve passively accepting all things as a non-autonomous agent of change but rather moves the individual to actively face the negative along with the positive for long-term contentment and stability (Neff, 2003b). Hölzel and

colleagues (2011) further explain mindfulness as the ability to step outside of one's subjective experience and take the perspective of an objective onlooker to analyze introspective experiences. As mindful awareness increases so does the realistic evaluation of personal abilities and weaknesses.

Over-Identification

Research indicates that excessive identification with personal short-comings tends to minimize feelings of self-worth as well as hinder improvement (Neff et al., 2005). Germer and Neff (2019) report negative cognitions such as these to be greatly reduced with the practice of self-compassion. Rather than permitting anxieties and ruminations into daily cognitions, mindful individuals explore feelings of negativity with curiosity, flexibility, and objectivity (Neff, Rude, & Kirkpatrick, 2007). A 2019 meta-analysis revealed over-identification as the greatest area of improvement for individuals who participated in self-compassion training (Ferrari et al., 2019; Neff et al., 2020). This research suggests self-compassion to significantly alter negative cognitions and serve as the antecedent for many associated positive outcomes to occur including optimism, body satisfaction, and motivation (Neff & Germer, 2017; Neff et al., 2019).

What Self-Compassion is Not

Considered a self-to-self relating paradigm, many assume that practicing self-compassion will increase egocentric thinking and self-indulgent attitudes. Research to date on selfcompassion reveals no such association with narcissism, passivity, or self-pity (Neff, 2003b; Cassisa & Neff, 2019). Interestingly, several validated and frequently applied measures of selfesteem do hold positive correlations with narcissism (See Appendices B; Neff, 2003a). *Self-Esteem*

The problem with promoting high self-esteem for developing children and adolescents is that when self-esteem is low there is no method for recovery (Neff & Vonk, 2009; Neff, 2009). Self-esteem does not shield feelings of competency or self-worth when faced with failure, nor does self-esteem buffer against feelings of inadequacy that tend to follow personal error in the absence of compassion for oneself (Neff, 2003a; Neff, 2009). Also, when positive self-regard is over-enhanced, negative mental health effects may occur as well, including deficient social skills and maladjustment outcomes assessed in young adults (Colvin et al., 1995). In contrast to self-esteem, self-compassion buffers against negative cognitions that are made toward the self, which can allow individuals to build and maintain positive self-regard throughout the lifespan (Neff, Rude, & Kirkpatrick, 2007; Neff, 2009).

Previous research shows that self-compassion serves as a healthier form of self-to-self relating than self-esteem in that self-compassion protects from over-identifying with failures through the mindful awareness that all fail at some point (Neff, 2003b). In contrast to self-esteem, self-compassion involves striving to succeed with less fear of external evaluations or fear that efforts will result in mediocre performance or complete failure (Neff et al., 2005; Neff & Vonk, 2009). Instead, kind encouragement for oneself and the joy associated with curiosity and exploration drives the self-compassionate individual forward (Neff, 2003a; Neff, Rude, & Kirkpatrick, 2007).

Self-compassion and self-esteem also differ in the area of true self-acceptance, a primary emotion regulation mechanism (Neff, Kirkpatrick, & Rude, 2007). Neff and colleagues (2007) posit that self-esteem brings a sense of self-acceptance that is performance-based and centered around gaining the acceptance of others. Self-compassion offers a rare and stable form of genuine acceptance of one's negative personality traits in conjunction with the positive (Neff,

Kirkpatrick, & Rude, 2007). Through the working components of self-compassion, one sees and accepts themselves objectively and as a flawed individual with the rest of humankind (Neff, Kirkpatrick, & Rude, 2007). Exhibitions of higher confidence and autonomy reveal self-compassionate individuals to have the advantages of self-esteem without its ties to inflated egocentricity (See Appendix B; Neff, 2003a).

Differences in Measurement. Neff's self-compassion scale (2003a) differs from selfesteem measures in considerable ways, one being that self-esteem holds a direct association with narcissism. Deci and Ryan's self-determination scale (1985), which is said to examine true selfesteem, contains items such as, "I do what I do because it interests me", and "I feel like I am always completely myself". These items portray somewhat unrealistic perceptions of oneself that are also linked with self-perceptions addressed in Raskin and Hall's narcissistic personality items (1979), including "I am more capable than other people", and contrasting with, "There is a lot that I can learn from others". Self-esteem measures appear to represent how individuals generally feel about themselves in terms of confidence and self-worth. Self-compassion items, on the other hand, assess resilient self-perceptions when faced with a difficult challenge or opportunity to feel negatively about oneself.

Self-compassion measures for adults and youth (Neff, 2003a; Neff et al., 2020) highlight traits that are indicative of resilience by assessing the care and concern individuals maintain for themselves when faced with suffering. In the adapted parent-report scale for measuring self-compassion in early childhood, items were phrased in similar ways to that of Neff's original scale. For instance, showing openness to problem-solving when dealing with difficult feelings is represented by a mindfulness item and reveals the child's ability to positively reframe an issue in effort to find a solution. Low self-compassion is assessed by asking parents about self-critical,

withdrawing, and over-identifying behaviors demonstrated by their child. For example, one item addresses whether the child tends to give up quickly on tasks they have trouble accomplishing. The purpose of asking this question to parents is to assess whether or not their child tends to selfcompassionately persevere or succumb to failure.

Internalizing behavior can quickly lead to self-critical habits and toward a trajectory for overall low self-regard. Low self-compassion in early childhood involving self-critical tendencies may hinder children from developing effective cognitive and emotional abilities to recuperate from faults (Zentall, 2010). With a self-compassionate mindset, however, children can accept failure as an isolated case of disappointment and refrain from merging this failure into the makeup of their identities. Self-compassion allows the individual to consider failures realistically without self-criticism and move on from those failures with acceptance and by making changes wherever necessary to thrive in the future (Neff, 2003a). The long-term goal of the current research is to provide these same emotionally stabilizing opportunities for children as young as 3 years old by first identifying areas of low and high self-compassion in early childhood.

Narcissism

Negative outcomes linked with individual tendencies to over-enhance their own characteristics in a more positive light has captured the attention of researchers over the last several decades (Larwood & Whitaker, 1977; Weinstein, 1980). Recurrently cited data from College Board exams (1976) indicate, from a sample of one million, the vast majority to consider themselves higher than the typical average in areas of management skill, sociability, and athleticism, a phenomenon also known as the better-than-average effect (College Board, 1976; Alicke & Govorun, 2005). The improbability of the better-than-average effect also follows that in an effort to meet social normative and performance expectations, social comparisons are often

made and the self is seen as favorable to peers (Codol, 1975). Self-compassion veers from this thought and rather emphasizes non-comparison toward others in a balanced acceptance of personal characteristics that are positive, negative, and somewhere in between.

Self-compassion is not related to egocentric thought and rather involves the understanding that pain and suffering are shared by all (Neff, 2003a). Neff (2003a) conveys how self-compassion does not lead to narcissism by explaining that self-compassionate individuals tend to evade performance-based evaluations (Neff et al., 2005). Compassion for oneself is associated with mastering areas of learning and understanding with a mindful and realistic acceptance of one's abilities rather than for the purpose of doing better than others or to avoid looking inferior (Neff et al., 2005). Self-worth is predicted as more stable alongside self-compassion than in conjunction with self-esteem, and appears to be higher when personal growth and self-acceptance are valued over internal and external comparisons (Neff, 2003a, Neff & Vonk, 2009).

Passivity

Another assumption previously made about the construct of self-compassion is that with it, the tendency to be passive in life rather than to strive for optimal growth should increase (Neff 2003b). However, this characteristic of passivity differs greatly from self-compassion partly because self-compassion is strongly correlated with personal initiative and assertiveness for oneself (Neff, Rude, and Kirkpatrick, 2007). Self-compassionate individuals tend to possess less fear of failure, which was identified in one study by participants having a higher propensity to persevere and extend more effort when failure was a possible outcome (Neff et al., 2005). In the same study, the relationship between self-compassion and mastering goals for the purpose of learning rather than to outperform others was mediated by higher competence of individual

abilities and a lower fear of failure (Neff et al., 2005). As research indicates, self-compassionate individuals tend to possess qualities that allow for flexibility and adaptation to new and challenging situations rather than passivity toward those challenges (Neff, Rude, & Kirkpatrick, 2007; Neff et al., 2005).

Self-Pity

Self-pity is recognized as separating personal occurrences from those experienced by others and overstating that personal suffering (2003b). In contrast, researchers explain self-compassion as being distinct from this tendency to over-engage with feelings by holding a mindful and balanced perspective of one's situation (2003b; Cassisa & Neff, 2019). In this way, self-compassionate individuals tend to evade emotional imbalance with the objective awareness that their pain reflects the shared human experience (Goldstein & Kornfield, 1987). By recognizing one's own strengths and weaknesses objectively and non-critically, the mindfulness component of self-compassion combats self-pity and develops an accurate examination of personal performance (Neff, 2003b).

Feasibility of Measuring Self-Compassion in Early Childhood

Self-compassion shows independence from negative cognitions and long-term attitudes such as self-pity, as well as narcissism and passivity (Neff, 2003b; Cassisa & Neff, 2019). For this reason, the overarching goal of the current research is to establish a measure for assessing self-compassion in early childhood with intent to identify and address early psychological protective qualities and vulnerabilities. Considered in the next section are the ways in which children are hypothesized to develop and experience early emerging self-compassion. Previous research on early childhood social and emotional development is also examined in referencing potential early behavioral indicators of self-compassion (see Appendix C).

Theory

Stolow and colleagues (2016) found relations between childhood depression and low self-compassion using a scale adapted by Amy Saltzman to assess self-compassion in children as young as nine years old. However, it is likely that self-compassion develops even earlier than this. With a similar mode of functioning as emotion regulation (Trompetter et al., 2017), this research explores the possibility that feelings of positive self-regard, a healthy connectedness to others, and mindful awareness begins to emerge within the first four and five years of life. To address the feasibility of examining early self-compassion, cognitive theory of development, attachment theory, and theory of mind are discussed in this section of the literature review.

Cognitive Theory of Development. Piaget's preoperational phase (1963) states that cognitive perspectives of the self are limited prior to the age of seven years. During the preoperational stage comes an influx of symbolic thinking related to deeper understanding of concepts and stronger intuition about the characteristics of others (Piaget, 1963). Intuitive thought substage (Piaget, 1963), however, is an integral constituent to Piaget's preoperational stage, which depicts the deepening of knowledge on more complex concepts and this is experienced by children as young as 4 years old. Behavioral indications of this substage involve asking more questions and showing general curiosity about the functioning of objects and emotions as well as shifting from magical to rational beliefs (Piaget, 1963). Curiosity, openness to problem-solving, and transitional shifting are strong facets of self-compassion already assessed in early mindfulness research (Neff, 2003a; Thierry et al., 2016). While Piaget emphasized that children have fully established perspective-taking abilities by seven years of age (Piaget, 1963), this process is known to begin as early as two years (Wellman et al, 2001).

Attachment Theory. Secure relationships typically place children on a positive developmental trajectory for emotional development (Ainsworth, 1992; Moreira et al., 2018). From there, the internal working model of attachment becomes the center of understanding self-worth and awareness of oneself in relation to others and the world around them (Bretherton, 1996; Leblanc et al., 2017). Ainsworth (1992) wrote about the overlap between social referencing and attachment theory with evidence noting that infants as young as eight to ten months observed their attachment figures for cues on how to comprehend and respond appropriately to different scenarios. Early engagement in social referencing may explain much of how the socialization process of emotion-related behaviors is demonstrated, observed, and imitated in early childhood.

The equivalent role of attachment on parent-child socialization and early childhood outcomes is that an insecure attachment can negatively influence the developing internal working model (Bretherton, 1996). When attachment relationships are compromised or dysfunctional in some way, developmental outcomes related to feelings of self-acceptance, emotion regulation, and overall well-being can be stunted (Moreira et al., 2018). These early attachment relationships appear to develop within the context of the family and through the emotional climate of the household, emotional expressivity, and parenting style (Morris et al., 2007; Neff, & McGehee, 2010).

Research indicates clear associations between early attachment style with emotion regulation and self-compassion (Girme et al., 2020; Jiang et al., 2017). Girme and colleagues (2020) noted that attachment style assessed prior to the age of two years predicted emotion regulation coping strategies with romantic partners and the opposite was true for insecurely attached infants. Research also reveals that self-compassion mediates for the association between

anxious attachment and overall well-being (Wei et al., 2011). These findings are not surprising given that the scale used to assess subjective well-being maintains construct validity with several correlates of self-compassion including optimism, self-esteem and life satisfaction (Hills & Argyle, 2002).

Theory of Mind. Taking a developmental view of theory of mind, it is recognized in the current research that from birth to age five, children progressively develop deeper insight into their own emotions as well as the perspectives held by others (Wellman et al., 2001). Perspective-taking and self-awareness are essential abilities involved in common humanity and mindfulness facets of self-compassion (Neff, 2003b). The main premise behind theory of mind reflects an early understanding that individual beliefs, thoughts, emotions, and mental states are attributed to and experienced by oneself as separate from others (Wellman et al., 2001). As children are faced with challenges that provide opportunities to engage in self-critical, socially withdrawn, or ruminating behaviors, it is posited that early behavioral patterns of self-compassion may also be detected.

Within the first five years, there are well-defined transitional shifts in social and emotional development that include rapid improvements in self-awareness and empathetic responsiveness to the distress of others (Harrington et al., 2020). Assessing false beliefs in early childhood often consists of an administered task that requires children to manipulate knowledge that has been made available to them and realize that same knowledge has not yet been given to another individual (Wellman et al., 2001). In one meta-analysis, 591 studies on the false belief task were assessed and most children performed the task incorrectly at 30-months old, with a 2% effect size increase each month after (Wellman et al., 2001). By 44-months, exactly half of the sample performed the task correctly (Wellman et al., 2001). With this effect size increase, it was

predicted that before the age of three years, the proportion of correctly performed false belief tasks would be approximately 74.6% of the sample (Wellman et al., 2001). In other words, some research suggests that children may engage in, what is known as, attributing mental states of others in perspective-taking sooner than previously established.

Southgate and colleagues (2007) designed a false belief test that involved relocating a toy from a distracted actor and tracking infant (M = 25 months) eye movements for the purpose of determining exactly how much time is spent looking at false versus correct locations. In this study, anticipatory looking was assessed by having infants witness a toy being moved from one location to another while an actor was distracted (Southgate et al., 2007). The object was removed from the scene completely before the actor returned and infant eye movements were traced for the purpose of determining where the infant expected the actor to look for the toy. Results revealed that infants spent twice as much time gazing at the original location, and in doing so, correctly predicted the behavior of the actor to look to that false belief location (Southgate et al., 2007). Previous research supports these findings by indicating that prior to the age of 4 years old, young children are sensitive to the mental states and beliefs of others (Onishi & Baillargeon, 2005). Although it may be possible to detect developing characteristics such as perspective-taking sooner, the current research aims to examine how self-compassion is experienced among children aged three, four and five years old.

Early Development and Transmission of Emotion Regulation

Previous research reveals emotion regulation to include a host of abilities that develop within the context of the family and within the first four years of the lifespan (Eisenberg & Morris, 2002; Trompetter et al., 2017). The occurrence of this early transmission process within the first four years of life is hypothesized of self-compassion in the current study. Emotion

regulation refers to the management, processing and balancing of both positive and negative emotional experiences (Barratt & Campos, 1987; Eisenberg & Morris, 2002). In terms of emotion stabilization and psychosocial well-being, self-compassion and emotion regulation are connected as two forms of resilience mechanisms (Trompetter et al., 2017; Hölzel et al., 2011). Both constructs of social and emotional learning hold beneficial value in forms of attentional focus, positive cognitive reappraisal, acceptance, and in confronting negative emotions rather than engaging in avoidance or thought suppression (Trompetter et al., 2017; Neff, 2003a; Neff, Kirkpatrick, & Rude, 2007).

Morris and colleagues' tripartite theoretical model (2007) represents the transmission process of emotion regulation. Morris and colleagues (2007) noted three mechanisms for how emotion regulation is transmitted within the family context. These mechanisms include a) child observation of parent emotional responses, b) parental reactions toward child emotions, and c) the emotional climate of the household. The tripartite theoretical model (Morris et al., 20007; 2017) demonstrates positive parenting and emotional support as heavily influential in the development of emotion regulation.

It is likely that self-compassion is similarly transmitted to offspring through parental modeling of emotion-related characteristics, emotion-coaching in response to offspring emotions, and through the emotional climate of the household (Morris et al., 2007; Neff & McGehee, 2010). Emotion coaching is one facet of this transmission process that involves teaching children to practice awareness and problem-solving when difficult and reoccurring feelings arise (Morris et al., 2007). Parental reactions to offspring emotionality contribute to the child's development of emotional competence or avoidant coping as they begin to understand their feelings can be either dismissed or respected and valued by others (Eisenberg et al., 1996).

An abundance of negative outcomes related to emotion dysregulation are experienced by preschool-aged children as well (Wakchlag, & Danis, 2009; Zero to Three, 2016). Issues related to uninhibited displays of aggression, low attentional focus, social withdrawal from peers and family members, and low problem-solving abilities have been related to early emotion dysregulation (Eisenberg et al., 1996; Eisenberg et al., 1993). An effective tool for neutralizing anxious feelings and strengthening interpersonal relationships, self-compassion combats criticisms made toward the self and feelings of aloneness in the world (Neff, Kirkpatrick, & Rude, 2007).

The current study is driven by inquiries about how early these self-compassion protective abilities emerge and by which mechanisms. It is posited that self-compassion is transmitted in similar ways as emotion regulation through mechanisms of early observation and imitation of emotion-related behavior demonstrated by attachment figures. As a core strategy for improving emotion regulation (Trompetter et al., 2017), there is need for a validated self-compassion scale for early childhood (SCS-EC). In the current research, we also seek preliminary evidence of a socialization process by comparing parent and child emotion-related characteristics in areas of self-compassion, emotion regulation, and empathy.

Behavioral Indicators of Self-Compassion in Early Childhood

As an abstract mentality of relating to oneself positively and realistically, selfcompassion should look differently among children than it does among adults (See Appendix D). Typically, children do not comprehend their emotional experiences as relative to the rest of humankind nor do children consider themselves autonomous beings of this world with the propensity to practice both positive self-regard and self-criticism (Zentall, 2010). Early indicators of self-compassion are explored in this section by drawing from literature on early

social learning and prosocial behaviors (self-kindness), social connectedness and social resource acknowledgment (common humanity), early mindfulness, parental criticism and self-criticism (self-judgment), social withdrawal (isolation), and negative cognitions associated with emotion dysregulation (over-identification).

Self-Kindness in Early Childhood

We posit that self-kindness and self-critical behaviors emerge early in life. Several researchers have investigated the early imitation of words, attitudes, and behaviors and it is apparent that even infants and children as young as two years attribute intentions and preferences to individuals based on behavioral indications (Ensink & Mayes, 2010). For example, one study examined infant reasoning about adult desires and motivator (Repacholi & Gopnik, 1997). At 18-months, infants were able to correctly understand the emotional responses of adults by predicting their preference for broccoli and they were able to appropriately understand this inclination as distinct from their own preference for crackers (Repacholi & Gopnik, 1997).

According to Bandura's social learning theory (1977), young children begin to recognize and imitate kindness and the lack thereof by observing others. In a randomized controlled trial design (Flook et al., 2015), children as young as 4 years old were involved in a program called the Kindness Curriculum (KC) that was meant to improve emotion regulation. Children were taught prosocial skills such as gratitude, empathy, and sharing through the use of concrete practices that are typically seen in preschool classrooms today. Through the use of story-time, music, and movement, kindness and compassion practices were revealed to improve social and emotional competence as well as emotion regulation functioning with moderate effects in comparison to the control group (Flook et al., 2015).

Another interesting finding from this study was that children in nontreatment groups became more self-focused and less prosocial over the 12-weeks their behavior was recorded (Flook et al., 2015). Recognized as a vital area of development, social and emotional abilities are currently implemented in several pre-K programs for the purpose of improving the long-term trajectory for mental and emotional stability (Hoffmann et al., 2020). Although it has not been measured yet, one likely additional benefit to learning prosocial skills in early childhood is that children also learn self-kindness by observing and demonstrating what appropriate treatment unto others looks and feels like.

Research also indicates that early displays of kindness and prosocial behavior contribute positively to several developmental domains including peer selection and academic achievement (Caprara et al., 2000). A longitudinal path of influence from third grade to adolescence was assessed in one study with prosocial behavior accounting for 37% of the variance in social domains and 35% in later academic achievement for adolescents (Caprara et al., 2000). Social domains represented a stronger preference for peers who also possessed prosocial qualities such as sharing, consoling others, and assisting those in need (Caprara et al., 2000). Experienced in more concrete ways than adults, it is probable that acts of self-kindness take the form of sharing personal interests with attachment figures and peers and by showing early confidence in abilities. In the current study, it is expected that age differences will exist for self-kindness and perspective-taking abilities particularly between children aged three and five years.

Self-Judgment in Early Childhood

Early self-critical behaviors appear to take root from negative parental responses (i.e., strict and critical parenting) to early displays of offspring emotion (McCranie & Bass, 1984). In one longitudinal study that tracked infants from 3 to 20-months, maternal sensitivity was

measured by tracking appropriate versus intrusive responses to infant cues (Zentall, 2010). Maternal sensitivity was recorded during the first several visits and at 20 months, infants participated in an unsolvable task (Zentall, 2010). The procedure of the unsolvable task involved presenting infants with a toy that was not age appropriate for the purpose of assessing differences in infant responses to motivation as a potential outcome of maternal sensitivity. This toy was introduced to infants by parents who demonstrated its function before leaving the child to autonomously operate the toy for themselves. Results revealed that child negative affect during the unsolvable task was predicted by maternal sensitivity (Zentall, 2010). Self-criticism is assessed in a similar way in the current research by asking parents whether their child tends to give up quickly when they experience initial difficulty with a task.

Early sensitivity to the criticisms of others is hypothesized to manifest through selfcritical behaviors in the current study as negative affect or frustration when approaching a challenging task or in attempt to communicate difficult emotions. Another study (Stevens, 2014) supports these claims in with findings that early responses to failure and challenging tasks serve as outcomes of parenting practices. Results from this preliminary research (2014) indicated that higher attachment insecurity between mother and child was significantly related to more negative affect and a higher negative response to failure for ages four and five years. Children tend to respond differently from adults to challenges and failures and one goal of the current research is to identify early feelings of self-kindness versus self-critical behavior as indicators of developing self-compassion.

Over time, self-criticism can lead to feelings of low self-worth and self-doubt as well as hinder social involvement (Neff, 2003b; Neff, et al., 2005). Children may internalize evaluations by developing an inner voice that mirrors a similar perspective of their primary caregiver (Beck,

1976). In a study designed to assess internalizing, externalizing, and attachment outcomes in children of mothers with depression versus non-depressed mothers, a significant association was found between maternal self-criticism and expressions of criticism about their child (Gravener et al., 2012). Mothers' self-critical statements and critical attitudes toward their children were assessed by coding statements provided in a brief interview where mothers were asked to speak about their relationship with their baby (M age = 20 months).

Using path analysis, maternal depression was reported as indirectly influential over the association between maternal self-criticism and both child externalizing behaviors and attachment insecurity (Gravener et al., 2012). Separate research on adolescents and their parents reveals a similar association with a direct significant relationship between maternal self-criticism and adolescent self-criticism, and this association was homogenous for both genders (Bleys et al., 2016). From this research it is apparent that the level of criticism mothers cast onto themselves significantly influences the attachment style and mental well-being of their child very early in life (Gravener et al., 2012).

Common Humanity in Early Childhood

Inverse facets of self-compassion, common humanity and isolation, appear to take the form of social connectedness and social withdrawal in early childhood. Common humanity is defined by a sense of belonging and relatedness to others during moments of challenge and personal distress (Neff et al., 2019). The recognition that all share in feelings of pain, suffering, anger, and joy appears to combat feelings of isolation and withdrawal (Neff, 2003b). Young children will gravitate toward caregivers to address their needs and distresses while older children tend to look more to peers in attempt to work out their problems or they will work it out for themselves (Bernzweig et al., 1993; Eisenberg & Morris, 2002). Common humanity in early

childhood may be indicated by an early acknowledgment of social and emotional resources and by seeking comfort from attachment figures during distressful moments (Bernzweig et al., 1993). Although common humanity shares many similarities with empathy, they are distinct in that common humanity involves empathy directed toward oneself in view of the shared perspectives and experiences of others. In the current research, common humanity is represented by children seeking out attachment figures for comfort rather than for negative attention during upsetting and disappointing experiences.

Isolation in Early Childhood

Isolation is the inverse of common humanity and is generally referred to as social withdrawal in early childhood research (Zero to Three, 2016). Social withdrawal in early childhood has many forms and has been largely examined through the lens of shyness and social wariness (Rubin et al., 2009). In his early proposal about social connectedness versus withdrawal, Mead (1934) all but defined self-compassion in stating that self-reflection, consideration of oneself in relation to others, and perspective-taking of others are dominant features of understanding oneself more accurately. Mead (1934) referred to this developmental process as beginning in early childhood.

Many negative outcomes are predicted by early social withdrawal, which can be profoundly harmful to the social and emotional development of children as they age (Rubin et al., 2009). Negatively altered outcomes include reduced self-esteem, poorer relationship quality with teachers and peers, and internalizing behavior such as depression (Rubin et al., 2009). Researchers Ooi, Baldwin, Coplan and Rose (2018) found consistent solitary play to be associated with antisocial behavior in forms of social, emotional, and adjustment issues for children aged 4 to 7 years old. Researchers used a multi-informant approach in another study to reveal that children who exhibited early social withdrawal, even in the form of shyness, were at an elevated risk for experiencing later peer difficulties (Coplan & Weeks, 2010). Early social withdrawal in this study also predicted larger gains in feelings of isolation and internalizing behaviors for children as young as six years (Coplan & Weeks, 2010). While not all withdraw is indicative of maladjustment, past research does reveal a pattern between early isolation and longlasting negative impacts that begin in early childhood (Rubin et al., 2009; Zero to Three, 2016).

Previous research indicates another source of social withdrawal that occurs in response to self-conscious embarrassment and has been observed in children as young as 24-months (Lewis & Ramsay, 2002; Crozier, 2010). Lewis and colleagues (1992) found that self-conscious embarrassment occurred when children failed to complete a task in the given time frame. (Lewis et al., 1992). Neff's original scale (2003a) refers to moments of isolation when the individual misses the mark on something that is significant to them. In the current research, isolation in early childhood is phrased similarly, as withdrawing from others during sadness or disappointment.

Behavioral isolation in early childhood is also assessed in the current research by asking parents whether their child tends to struggle to communicate difficult feelings without becoming frustrated. Previous research has shown clear associations between difficulties in language development with emotion dysregulation and difficulties in peer development (Stansbury & Zimmermann, 1999; Sroufe, 1983). In one study (Stansbury & Zimmermann, 1999), a frustration task was elicited for parents and children to cope through. It was reported that parents of children with language difficulties used a more rigid, authoritarian parenting style rather than guiding their child through useful emotion-related coping strategies (Stansbury & Zimmermann, 1999). Children with low verbal ability and authoritative parental engagement used fewer cognitive

emotion regulation coping strategies (Stansbury & Zimmermann, 1999). In the same study, it was found that physical comfort toward oneself (i.e., sucking on thumb, patted self) for children, significantly predicted internalizing and externalizing behaviors (Stansbury & Zimmermann, 1999). Seeking physical comfort as a coping mechanism was an isolated act that did not involve parental engagement and was distinct from other coping strategies that did involve parents (i.e., seeking parent for comfort, request for transitional toy).

Mindfulness in Early Childhood

Mindfulness involves the emergence of effortful control, inhibition, self-awareness, and similar developing executive functions in early childhood (Eisenberg & Morris, 2002; Flook et al., 2015). Effortful control is assessed in the current study as an emotion-related regulatory response (Rothbart et al., 1994). Effortful control involves attentional and inhibitory control during emotional distress and aids children in being more planful, proactive with coping, and more competent with problem-solving (Simonds et al., 2007; Eisenberg & Morris, 2002). As a feature of temperament and prominent component of emotion regulation, developing effortful control is known to strengthen resiliency to stress within the first year of life and more fully by the ages of four and five years (Simonds et al., 2007; Rothbart et al., 1994). Kochanska and colleagues (2000) assessed the development of effortful control in toddlers between ages 22 and 33 months in one study and found dramatic improvement during these ages (Kochanska et al., 2000). Toddlers with higher effortful control at 22-months exhibited greater regulation in dealing with anger, joy and restraint, and this improved cognitive and emotion regulation was predicted by parent socialization (Kochanska et al., 2000). Abilities to practice effortful control by cognitively distracting oneself in the face of emotional challenges requires a certain level of mindful awareness.

Self-awareness and perspective-taking are other early emerging abilities that involve mindfulness. As early as 15-months, infants with higher self-awareness in one study were more likely to engage with peers in more advanced pretend play than those with lower self-recognition (Lewis & Ramsay, 2004). Although there are mixed results, pretend play has been known to improve the development of social skills through empathy and perspective-taking as well as emotion regulation through enhanced attentional control (Jent et al., 2011; Lewis & Ramsay, 2004).

Several mindfulness programs have been created and implemented for use in preschool classrooms with significant improvements in executive functioning domains (Flook et al., 2015; Thierry et al., 2016). Mindfulness-based programs have been adapted for Pre-K and for elementary-school. These programs are implemented in the United States and internationally with curricula such as MindUP, the Kindness Curriculum (KC), and the OpenMind-Korea (OM-K) preschool program (Flook et al., 2015; Thierry et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2020). In one study, Kim and colleagues found that children who participated in the treatment group received benefits in all expected domains from the OM-K program including emotion regulation, prosocial behaviors, and resiliency (Kim et al., 2020).

Mindful awareness is assessed in the current study by asking parents about concrete indicators of how well their child balances their own emotions. With the adapted scale for measuring self-compassion in early childhood, parents were asked how quickly their child tends to recover when their feelings are hurt and how willing their child is to problem-solve when issues arise. Practicing mindfulness early in life appears to supplement children with skills that are necessary for elementary school-readiness (Thierry et al., 2016). It is

hypothesized in the current study that concrete behaviors of mindfulness exhibited by preschool-aged children represent one core element of early emerging self-compassion.

Over-Identification in Early Childhood

For adults, over-identification involves negative cognitions such as rumination, emotion suppression, and difficulty with reframing cognitions in positive and objective ways (Neff, Kirkpatrick, & Rude, 2007). Prior research suggests that early adolescents also tend to overidentify with feelings of failure (Neff, & McGehee, 2010). Similar and associated feelings of worthlessness, excessive guilt, and self-blame have been identified as key criterion for children who experience depressive symptoms (Zero to Three, 2016; Gilbert & Irons, 2009). Early childhood over-identification may be better described as a low propensity to engage in mindful thinking. This capacity to cognitively distract oneself from distress by reframing disappointments to recover from negative feelings emerges more fully during the fourth and fifth years of life (Rothbart et al., 1994).

Early emerging self-views are impacted by positive and negative feedback that is given by caregivers (Garber et al., 2019). In a study designed to better understand the impact of verbal feedback on early childhood emerging self-views, researchers assessed child affect, selfevaluations, and internal attributions (Garber et al., 2019). In administering doll scenarios designed by Cutting and Dunn (2002) meant to represent the child participant and their own mother, children were asked to watch one scenario of a child doll who drew a picture with a mistake on it (e.g., no door on the house), who then revealed his/her work to the mother doll (Garber et al., 2019). Maternal responses given by the mother doll that were critical in content and tone significantly predicted negative affect and self-evaluations in child observers, who were 4 and 5 years old (Garber et al., 2019). It was hypothesized that children would have lower views

of themselves and of their own abilities upon hearing critical negative maternal feedback and this was true in the given study (Garber et al., 2019). One takeaway from this research is that children may over-identify with negative parental evaluations that will then influence how positively or negatively they consider themselves (Garber et al., 2019).

Although parents report on feelings of low self-worth and self-blame demonstrated by their children as early as 24-months (Zero to Three, 2016), concrete behaviors illustrating similar mentalities will be asked to parents of children who are slightly older in the current study (M= 36-60 months). In the current research, we ask parents whether their child is typically likely or unlikely to make a second attempt after failing a task. Demonstrations of resistance to perseverance and problem-solving may reveal an early tendency to over-identify with failure (negative self-evaluation). Taken altogether, these six components appear to work together in forming the concept of self-compassion in early childhood.

Emerging Self-Compassion in the Context of the Family

In light of the early emergence and transmission of emotion and self-regulating abilities from parent to offspring (Morris et al., 2007; Spinrad, Morris & Luthar, 2020), the current research focuses on a similar developmental process for the construct of self-compassion. To better understand the transmission of self-compassion in the context of the family, research on mindful parenting is first examined to illustrate how self-compassionate parenting is hypothesized to emerge in the first four years of life.

Mindful Parenting

When children act out, parents may take a balanced frame of mind to view those moments as opportunities for conveying life lessons and for promoting social and emotional growth (Gottman et al., 1996). Numerous studies point to the contribution of parental warmth and

sensitivity on positive adjustment outcomes for their children, many of which predict academic success (Woolley & Bowen, 2007; Schwartz et al., 2013). Mindful parenting, as a model of parental sensitivity and responsiveness, can be defined by its key features of patience, flexibility, and consistency as opposed to over-reactivity to challenging emotions and behavior exhibited by offspring (McCaffrey et al., 2017). The Mindfulness in Parenting Questionnaire (MIPQ) was created to better understand the process of mindful parenting through the ways in which caregivers demonstrate parental self-efficacy, awareness and nonreactivity, empathetic understanding, and acceptance toward their offspring (McCaffrey et al., 2017).

Previous literature supports this notion that parents raise their children to practice a perspective that is either compassionate or dismissive toward themselves by providing them with either support or critical evaluation within the attachment relationships (McCaffrey et al., 2017; Neff, & McGehee, 2010). In effort to detect a similar process in the socialization of self-compassion process, we draw from Gottman and colleagues' philosophy (1996) on meta-emotion, which reflects a mindful awareness of parental responsibility to offspring. Gottman and colleague's (1996) emphasized emotion-related parenting practices through conflict-solving and emotional-learning as key components for a positive trajectory toward overall well-being.

Evidence of Gottman's philosophy is supported by Morris and colleagues' tripartite framework (2007) and by self-compassion research (Neff & McGehee, 2010). In one study, selfcompassion was discovered to mediate the relationship between supportive family functioning and adolescent well-being (Neff & McGehee, 2010). Neff & McGehee (2010) also found that positively functioning families with warm and harmonious family climates buffered against selfcriticism and other harmful attributes to the self during adolescent years. This buffering effect self-compassion has on negative outcomes combined with its promotion of protective factors

may help children to better maintain securely attached relationships as they age. It is hypothesized with this research that by modeling a self-compassionate lifestyle, caregivers impart these regulating abilities onto children.

Self-Compassionate Parenting

Guided by theory, it is posited in the given research that self-compassion may be socialized through emotion-related parenting practices, chiefly within the context of the family (Bandura, 1977; Moreira et al., 2018). Similar to emotion regulation socialization, it is likely offspring learn early self-compassion through parental expressions of mindful self-regulation and through an emotional climate of kindness, patience, and acceptance in the household (McCaffrey et al., 2017; Neff & McGehee, 2010). Parents respond to emotional processes of their children in ways that may have a profound impact on the development of their child's attitudes and beliefs about themselves as they age (Neff, 2009; Moreira et al., 2018).

Developing self-compassionate characteristics of self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness are likely to occur in the presence of familial cohesiveness according to research conducted by Jiang and colleagues (2017). Researchers determined that quality emotional connectedness between family members plays a key role in the development of adolescent self-compassion (Jiang et al., 2017). Additionally, attachment security serves as a protective factor against internalizing and externalizing behaviors including depression, anxiety, somatization, and several other deficiencies related to low self-compassion (Waldinger et al., 2006; Neff, 2003a; Dewsaran-van der Ven et al., 2018). By observing how parents model patience toward themselves and by engaging in mindful and empathetic exchanges with parents, we posit that children develop this ability of kind, self-to-self relating in the family context.

Through positive communication between members of the household and a strong sense of family cohesion (Berryhill et al., 2018), the self-kindness element of self-compassion is likely observed and imitated by children living in the household. This stabilizing force is likely to emerge from parents who tend to be more patient, understanding, and accepting of their own flaws and characteristics as well as toward the flaws of others (Neff & McGehee, 2010). Feelings of relatedness to the pain and suffering of others is another key component of self-compassion referred to as common humanity (Neff et al., 2019). Early observations of how parents consider and interact with others may provide an early understanding of shared suffering that enables the child to more easily relate to others rather than emotionally isolate.

Third, the practice of mindfully facing negative emotions in conjunction with the positive is the last component of self-compassion and this contributes to a well-balanced and emotionally regulated mind (Hölzel et al., 2011; Neff et al., 2019). Mindful parenting also predicts positive well-being for adolescents in areas of self-compassion, mindfulness, and secure attachments with caregivers (Moreira et al., 2018). From this research, Moreira, Gouveia, & Canavarro (2018) concluded that self-compassion and mindfulness must develop within the parent-child bond through the promotion of self-regulation, affectionate kindness, and mindfulness.

For parents practicing self-care, there are potential social and emotional benefits for both caregiver and child. One program called Mom Power is founded in attachment theory and elevates the parent-child relationship as the primary source of positive early childhood social and emotional development (Muzik et al., 2015). Over 100 mothers of young children (M < 6 years) participated in self-care practices that involved breathing, self-reflection, stress reduction, and mind-body exercises with significant reductions to stress and challenging mental health outcomes for mothers (Muzik et al., 2015). Among the high-risk sample of mothers and their

children participating in the Mom Power intervention, over 90% claimed the intervention assisted them in being more capable of perceiving the needs of their child and responding to those needs effectively (Muzik et al., 2015; Rosenblum et al., 2017). By learning how to selfsoothe during difficult parenting moments and intentionally reflect on those moments, parental competency and offspring social and emotional development should improve as well (Muzik et al., 2015; Rosenblum et al., 2017).

A negative pattern of emotion-related parenting practices is likely to impact developing self-compassion in offspring as well. Mental health issues and chronic stress are other risk-related factors parents are likely to encounter that can interfere with how frequently self-compassion and positive emotion management are demonstrated in the household (Morris et al., 2007; Neff & McGehee, 2010). One study presented evidence of self-compassion mediating the relationship between early abuse experienced by parents and psychopathological symptomology that followed, which included major depressive disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, and borderline personality disorder (Westphal et al., 2016). As this research suggests, self-compassion can buffer negative long-lasting effects that often emerge as outcomes of early maltreatment (Westphal et al., 2016).

As the inverse of self-kindness, self-judgment may stem from verbal criticism or low caregiver responsivity to child emotional reactions, which can lead a child to believe their emotions are not worthy of attention (Gilbert & Irons, 2005; Gilbert & Irons, 2009). Research already informs that children learn by observing their parent's modeling of emotions, and this is accurate of self-critical behaviors as well (McCranie & Bass, 1984; Zentall, 2010). Social withdrawal can also emerge early in life as an outcome of early abuse or as an indicator of mental health issues, such as a symptom of early childhood depression (Zero to Three, 2016). Attachment relationships

predict internalizing withdrawal in early childhood and in ambivalent attachment relationships specifically, infants will avoid rejection by acting in passive and socially withdrawn ways (Rubin et al., 2009). In addition to these findings, Rubin and colleagues (2009) noted a strong association between offspring engagement in socially withdrawing behaviors with overly protective, overcontrolling and intrusive parenting. These findings imply that children will often fail to develop proper coping mechanisms with overinvolved parenting, and instead, they will socially withdraw from others. Another implication is that when children need to solve problems independently from their caregivers, they may experience more distress and anxiety because in the past, problems were solved for them (Grolnick et al., 1998; Rubin et al., 2009).

Over-identifying with failures and negative emotions in early childhood is likely to result in an overrepresentation of internalizing behaviors later in life. The counterpart of Gottman and colleague's (1996) meta-emotion philosophy states that parents who consistently dismiss the importance of their child's emotions, often due to personal discomfort with the expression of emotions, are at risk for poorer outcomes (Jones et al., 2002). Specifically, Jones and colleagues (2002) noted that parental reactions to child emotions that are consistently negative predict deficient levels of social and emotional competence for the child. Likewise, when emotions are minimized by parents, children tend to show avoidant emotion regulation strategies that can negatively impact the quality of their social interactions (Eisenberg et al., 1992).

It is also likely that temperament plays a large role in parent socialization of selfcompassion because the ease or difficulty of a child's disposition does impact the bidirectional relationship experienced by parents (Gallegos et al., 2019). Additionally, child temperament can influence spousal perceptions about the quality of their partner's co-parenting abilities (Gallegos et al., 2019). Researchers, Kochanska, Aksan and Joy (2007) noted that early childhood predictors

of temperament and fearfulness moderated the relationship between parenting and positive socialization outcomes for children. Fearfulness was elicited by having the child participate in several harmless, yet potentially uncomfortable, activities with strangers in the room such as riding a tricycle (Kochanska et al., 2007).

The self-compassion scale for early childhood (SCS-EC) has been adapted to reflect ways in which young children may experience self-compassion (see Appendix A). The next step in the research is to test the validity of this scale to identify and distinguish positive and negative patterns in early self-compassion and to understand better how self-compassion is transmitted from parent to child. It is hypothesized with this research that parental modeling of selfcompassionate behavior occurs in the household and we expect to find that children share a similar expression of compassion toward themselves as their parents.

Measure Development

Because of the age of the preschool population who are the focus of this instrument, it was more appropriate to create a parent-report scale rather than a self-report scale for children to complete. This decision stemmed from the understanding that children under the age of seven may not possess the internal self-evaluative abilities needed to accurately describe how they feel about themselves (Piaget, 1963). For the purpose of this research, it is assumed children who are this young have not pondered their sense of self-worth, although there are indications that self-worth and self-blame emerge in the first three years as symptoms of early childhood depression (Zero to Three, 2016). The goal of the current research, however, was not to investigate how children think about themselves in early childhood but rather to examine concrete behaviors that can be easily observed by parents and that are reflective of early emotion-related self-care.

The decision to examine behavioral indicators of the self-compassion construct was made in congruence with how similar constructs have been measured by researchers. In particular, studies tracking behavioral patterns of toddlers have focused on antecedent behaviors for indications of abnormal development (Baillargeon et al., 2007). For the purpose of identifying early childhood patterns associated with disturbances in mental health, parent-report measures of self-esteem, emotion regulation, anxiety, attentional problems, and many more have been created and administered over the last several decades (Achenbach & Rescorla, 2001; Ravens-Sieberer, & Bullinger, 1998). By relying on previous research about emotional well-being in early childhood, this adapted measure of self-compassion in early childhood was created for early identification purposes and should provide implications for future social-emotional learning curricula and clinical practice.

In developing this adapted scale, the issue of potential parent-report bias was considered. Attribution theory refers to perspective bias in reference to how individuals extract meaning and social information from the behaviors of others (Heider, 1958). Attributional biases have been examined in clinical settings since the 1970's and more recently, in parent-report measures (Kroes et al., 2003). Greater distortion of data, however, is generally predicted by the level of ambiguity demonstrated by the participant being observed or reported on (Kroes et al., 2003). In addressing these potential issues, the SCS-EC was adapted and designed for parents to answer questions about concrete behaviors rather than to interpret ambiguous thoughts and feelings of their child (See Appendix D).

The adapted scale items are phrased to address specific behaviors such as seeking aloneness and problem-solving rather than asking parents to analyze deeper meaning from observed behaviors. In likeness with the parent-report version of the Children's Emotion

Management Scales (CEMS; Zeman et al., 2001), the adapted self-compassion scale also assesses concrete behaviors of their child in response to a challenge by asking parents whether or not their child tries again when they have failed at something, for example.

Self-Compassion, Mindfulness and Emotion Regulation

Clear improvements in emotion regulation have gained the constructs of self-compassion and mindfulness attention as intervention strategies for improving emotional processing abilities in adolescents and young children (Bluth & Eisenlohr-Moul, 2017; Trompetter et al., 2017). Both self-compassion and emotion regulation are independently correlated with many of the same constructs and hold negative associations with anxiety, depression, a low self-image, and chronic stress (Neff, 2003b; Neff, Kirkpatrick & Rude, 2007; Bakker et al., 2019). Through this process of understanding emotions objectively and working through them in an adaptive manner, self-compassion and emotion regulation are related in how they function to benefit the individual (Neff, 2003b).

The mindfulness facet of self-compassion resembles emotion regulation through the adaptive method of emotional approach coping (Neff, Rude, & Kirkpatrick, 2007; Bakker et al., 2019). Emotional approach coping is defined by Stanton and colleagues (2000) as an assertive way to identify and deal with difficult emotions effectively, which promotes regulation and emotion management. Mindfulness allows for maintaining a balanced spectrum of emotional awareness, where failures are not overly identified with (Hölzel et al., 2011). Consistent with these constructs, emotional pain is not suppressed but acknowledged, empathized, and coped with in the inner-workings of the mind. Specifically, mindfulness and emotion regulation are associated through rumination, emotional balance, acceptance, and cognitive reappraisal (Neff, 2003b). Mindfulness training also buffers against the same areas that highly emotionally

regulated individuals inhibit such as stress, rumination about failures, and feelings of isolation (Neff, 2003b).

Although there are clear associations between self-compassion and mindfulness, research reveals them to be separate constructs. In another study, self-compassion was identified as a mediator for the relationship between mindfulness and well-being in a sample of undergraduate college students (Hollis-Walker, & Colosimo, 2011). Neff (2003b) revealed that repair and clarity categories of emotional intelligence, which reflect the ability of individuals to manage and regulate their emotions, shared convergent validity with self-compassion and with no findings of collinearity. Emotion regulation is another similar yet separate construct from self-compassion. A list of over four hundred defined coping strategies were synthesized (Skinner et al., 2003) and on this list, emotion regulation was listed as a separate coping mechanism from self-initiated and self-calming coping, which are arguably more accurate descriptions of self-compassion (Skinner et al., 2003).

In adapting the SCS-EC, early emotion regulation literature was drawn from in order to understand the different ways children respond to challenging situations. While there are many similarities between self-compassion and emotion regulation, it was important to establish them as separate constructs in the development of the adapted scale. The Emotion Regulation Checklist (ERC) includes questions for parents about early childhood depression (i.e., displays flat affect) and antisocial behaviors (i.e., takes pleasure in the distress of others) that are not involved in the adapted self-compassion scale. There are items in the ERC asking parents about early behaviors indicative of sensitivity to the emotions of others (i.e., is empathetic toward others), indicating a potential area of overlap between emotion regulation and self-compassion. However, self-compassion is distinct from emotion regulation in its explanation of empathy

through common humanity, which involves providing empathy toward oneself with acknowledgment of shared human suffering (Neff, 2003b). Consistent with Neff's original selfcompassion scale, the adapted scale did not explore empathy shown toward others or any other factor outside of self-kindness, common humanity, mindfulness, self-judgment, isolation, and over-identification. Through positive resilience mechanisms self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness, it makes sense that self-compassion would improve one's effectiveness in balancing their emotions and in taking the initiative to solve problems as they arise (Neff, 2003a). Self-compassion is hypothesized to predict emotion regulation in the current study but not to overlap with emotion regulation.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

Participants and Procedures

Parents of preschool children were recruited through established relationships with preschool programs and child care services in Oklahoma and Colorado. Parents with children between the ages of three and five years were also recruited online with postings on social media. The target sample size for this portion of the study was 250 participants and criterion for inclusion included that parents must be the primary caregiver of at least one child between the ages of three and five years. The total number of participants in both the pilot and the final sample was 255. Parents received access to the survey through online Facebook parent groups, directly from the primary investigator, or through a personal contact of theirs who shared the survey link.

Parents received electronic informed consent as an attachment on the first page of the Qualtrics survey where the voluntary nature of the research was thoroughly explained. Parents were asked whether they consented to participate in the study prior to data collection and constraints were placed in the Qualtrics survey so that parents were unable to complete the survey without providing consent. Also included in the informed consent document was a description of survey procedures, where parents were asked to complete online self-report and parent-report surveys about emotion-related characteristics using Qualtrics as the delivery platform. This anonymous Qualtrics survey upheld the following parameters: the save and

continue option was disabled so that participants could not enter back into the survey once they had left. Additionally, ballot box stuffing was disabled so that participants could not take the survey more than once.

Pilot Testing Procedures

Altogether, 70 primary caregivers of at least one child between the ages of three and five years old contributed to the initial piloting sequence of this study. Parents were recruited from a preschool in the Midwest region of the United States and from an online portal. Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval was received for the piloting phase of data collection, and survey materials were not administered to anyone who did not meet the recruitment requirements of being a primary caregiver to children within the required age range. Written informed consent was collected from parents recruited from preschools and electronic informed consent was collected from parents who were recruited online.

The original 23-item scale consisted of 10 positively phrased items representing positive facets of self-compassion and 12 items representing the negative facets of self-compassion. Parents responded to these questions using a Likert-type scale, which ranged from (1) never like them to (5) always like them. Demographic information was not collected from parents during pilot testing. One item was used as a covariate and was removed before conducting analyses. The online survey involved questions about (a) early childhood self-compassion using the adapted scale, (b) temperament, and (c) internalizing behaviors of their children. Temperament and internalizing behaviors were included as covariates, for the purpose of ensuring valid assessment of the self-compassion construct. In total, 31 items were included in pilot testing, and 23 of these items were the adapted scale for measuring self-compassion in early childhood.

Measures

Self-Report Measures for Parents

Parents were asked to answer demographic questions in addition to the following measures assessing emotion-related characteristics about themselves: (a) Self-Compassion Scale (SCS), (b) Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (ERQ), and the (c) Toronto Empathy Questionnaire (TEQ).

Self-Compassion. Participants were given the Self-Compassion Scale-Short Form (SCS-SF), which was revised from the original scale and shortened to 12 items (Raes et al., 2011) as a comparable version of Neff's (2003a) original 26-item scale. The SCS-SF also contains the same six subscales of the original scale: self-kindness, common humanity, mindfulness, self-judgment, isolation, and over-identification. Means of subscale item responses were calculated and negatively phrased items were reverse scored for a total composite score. Participants responded with to questions on a Likert scale from (1) *almost never* to (5) *almost always* and scores ranged from 22 to 58. Internal consistency for the SCS-SF tested with the sample recruited for this study was high ($\alpha = .86$).

Emotion Regulation. The Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (ERQ; Gross & John, 2003) self-report measure was used in the current research for the purpose of detecting two subscales of emotion regulating involving parental cognitive reappraisal (CR) and expressive suppression (ES). This 10-item Likert scale was used to assess responses ranging from (1) *strongly disagree* to (7) *strongly agree*. Statements addressing the cognitive reappraisal facet of emotion regulation included items such as, "When I want to feel more positive emotion, I change the way I'm thinking about the situation". Items reflecting the expressive suppression facet of emotion regulation included statements such as, "When I am feeling negative emotions, I make

sure not to express them". Original psychometrics of this scale demonstrated high alphas for both factors of adult-experienced emotion regulation. CR subscale scores ranged from 12 to 42 and ES scores ranged from 4 to 27. The CR and ES factors of the Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (ERQ) demonstrated excellent internal consistency in the current study, with respective Cronbach's alphas .869 and .800.

Empathy. The 16-item Toronto Empathy Questionnaire (TEQ; Spreng et al., 2009) was used in the current study to assess cognitive empathy in adults. This form of empathy has been identified as theory of mind by some researchers, which involves the development of understanding that thoughts and feelings of others are separate from those experienced by the self (Spreng et al., 2009). Gender differences were considered moderate in the original evaluation of this scale, with female scores ranging from 44.62 - 48.93 and male scores ranging from 43.46 - 44.45. Positively worded empathy items such as, "I have tender, concerned feelings for people less fortunate than me" and "I can tell when others are sad even when they do not say anything" were administered. Negatively worded empathy items include statements such as, "I am not really interested in how other people feel" and "I remain unaffected when someone close to me is happy" and these items were reverse coded. Responses were given on a 5-point scale from *never* to *always* and scores ranged from 49 to 80. Strong internal reliability (α = .836) was demonstrated by the Toronto Empathy Scale (TES) in the current research.

Parent-Report Measures for Children

Parents were asked to complete the following surveys about their children: (d) the adapted Self-Compassion Scale for Early Childhood (SCS-EC), (e) Emotion Regulation Checklist (ERC), (f) The Empathy Questionnaire (EmQue), (g) Emotional well-being and selfesteem subscales of the KINDL questionnaire (h) Temperament scale previously adapted from

the Child Behavior Questionnaire (CBQ), and (i) Internalizing Behaviors selected items from the Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL).

Demographic Questionnaire. Parents were asked to complete a brief questionnaire including information about their children's age, sex, and ethnicity and to answer how they received access to the survey. Parents were also asked to report on their average income prior to the coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak, their occupation and whether or not they took advantage of free lunch programs at their children's schools prior to the COVID-19 outbreak. Lastly, parents were asked to answer how many hours a day they spent with their child prior to COVID-19 and during COVID-19.

Adapted Self-Compassion Scale for Early Childhood. With support from theory and prior literature about mindfulness and emotion regulation in early childhood, the Self-Compassion Scale for Early Childhood (SCS-EC) was adapted from Neff's original self-compassion scale (2003a) and piloted. During pilot testing, the SCS-EC was assessed by asking parents of children aged 3 to 5 years old about behaviors their children tend to engage in during challenging moments. Confirmatory factor analysis was used to establish psychometrics for this scale in determining a 13-item, 2-factor model structure. Self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness items represent factor 1 (Positive SCS-EC), and self-judgement, isolation, and over-identification represent factor 2 (Negative SCS-EC).

The SCS-EC is comprised of items such as, "My child tends to doubt their own abilities when they attempt something new and/or challenging", as a behavioral indicator of early selfjudgement. Another item included in this scale states, "When my child's feelings are hurt, they tend to recover quickly", as a behavioral indicator of early mindfulness. Responses to this scale were given on a 5-point range from (1) *never like them* to (5) *always like them* and scores ranged

from 5 to 25 on both subscales. Factors 1 (α =.726) and factor 2 (α =.756) demonstrated high internal consistency reliability.

Early Emotion Regulation. Shields and Cicchetti's (1995) Emotion Regulation Checklist (ERC) is a 24-item assessment completed by parents regarding the capacity of their children's emotion regulation functioning. This scale consists of two subscales: adaptive regulation, which assesses the level of emotional understanding and emotion-related abilities such as empathy; and the liability subscale, with items aimed to assess emotion dysregulation. For purposes of the current study, the adaptive regulation subscale was administered (8 items). The adaptive regulation subscale consists of items such as, "Can say when she/he is feeling sad, angry or mad, fearful or afraid" and "Is empathetic toward others". Child emotion regulation was rated by parents on a 4-point Likert scale from (1) *never* to (4) *always* and scores ranged from 13 to 24. In the current study, the ERC demonstrated acceptable internal consistency of .729.

Early Empathy. The Empathy Questionnaire (EmQue; Rieffe et al., 2010) is a 20-item parent-report measure that reflects three components of empathy involving emotion contagion, attention to other's feelings, and prosocial actions on a 3-point scale. The Empathy Questionnaire is useful in identifying how children are impacted by the emotions of others. Scores on this scale range from 0-20. For the purpose of the current study, subscale 'attention to the feelings of others' (7 items) was used. This Likert scale was measured from 0-2 (0) *never* to (2) *often* and scores ranged from 8 to 21. The EmQue attention to the feelings of other's subscale showed near adequate internal consistency after the removal of one item with a positive skew (α = .686).

Early Self-Esteem and Emotional Well-Being. Emotional Well-Being (4 items) and Self-Esteem (4 items) subscales of the parent-report measure for Quality of Life Questionnaire

for Children (Kiddy KINDL Questionnaire; Ravens-Sieberer & Bullinger, 1998) was used in the current research. Original versions of the KINDL questionnaire include self-report and parent-report and in the current study, the kiddy-KINDL parent-report version for ages 3 to 6 years old was administered to identify these constructs in early childhood. Included in the Emotional Well-Being subscale are statements such as, "My child didn't feel much like doing anything" and "My child had fun and laughed a lot" during the past week. The Self-Esteem subscale included items such as, "My child felt on top of the world" and "My child felt pleased with him/herself" during the past week. Scores ranged from 8-20 for the Self-Esteem subscale and 9-20 for the Emotional Well-Being subscale. Internal consistency was good for the Kiddy KINDL Self-Esteem questionnaire for early childhood (α = .792) and Emotional Well-Being was low with a Cronbach's alpha .609.

Temperament. A single-item measure with three responses for temperament was included as a covariate in the current study to measure temperament in children, ages 3 to 5 years old (Sleddens et al., 2012). This measure was created using classical test theory, principal component analysis and item response modeling in examination of Child Behavior Questionnaire (CBQ) psychometrics (Sleddens et al., 2012). With this measure, parents were asked to respond to vignettes using three response options. These response options included the "Surgency/Extraversion" child who is characterized by their impulsive and active behavioral tendencies, the "Negative Affectivity" child who is noted for their negative affective states, and the "Effortful Control" child who is characterized by their ability to exercise attentional control.

Early Internalizing behaviors. Selected items from the Internalizing Behaviors Scale (7 items) of the Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL) were used in the current study (Achenbach & Rescorla, 2001). The CBCL is one of the most widely used scales for identifying challenging

behavior in early childhood and the version for ages 1 $\frac{1}{2}$ to 5 years was designed for caregivers to report a baseline of general characteristics and behaviors about their child. Items such as, "Nervous, high-strung, or tense" and "Upset by new people or situations" are included in this version of the CBCL and were administered in the current study. Responses were given on a 3point scale, with (0) *not true of the child*, (1) *somewhat or sometimes true of the child*, and (2) *very true or often true of the child*. Although internalizing behavior items show strong global fit, internal reliability was low (α = .490).

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics for SCS-EC items

Descriptive statistics for the final 10 items of the SCS-EC are provided in Table 1 below. Positively worded items on factor 1 of the SCS-EC scale were significantly correlated with negatively worded items on factor 2 (r = -.61). No skewness or non-normal kurtosis was found in items on either factor and scores were all in the appropriate range. Consistent with pilot testing, confirmatory factor analysis of the SCS-EC demonstrated best fit with positive and negative components of self-compassion represented in a 2-factor model. The positive component of early self-compassion includes all original scale facets of self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness from Neff^{*}s original scale for measuring self-compassion in adulthood (2003a). The corresponding negative component of early self-compassion also includes all original scale elements of self-judgment, isolation, and over-identification from the original scale (Neff, 2003a).

Sample Characteristics

Participants included 185 parents of children aged three to five years, the majority of whom were reached through social media for measurement of the Self-Compassion Scale for Early Childhood (SCS-EC). The demographic breakdown of the sample for this research can be found in Table 2 and includes age, gender, parent and child ethnicity, socioeconomic status (SES), and the number of hours that parents spent daily with their child prior to and during the

outbreak of COVID-19. The relationship between age and early emerging self-compassion was particularly interesting. Significantly higher negative and positive scores on the SCS-EC were found for children aged 5 years in comparison to children aged 3 and 4 years old (see Table 2). The opposite was found for children aged 3 years in comparison to those who were 4 and 5 years old, showing lower negative and higher positive early emerging self-compassion. No significant group differences were found between children aged 4 years old with either factor of the adapted scale for early self-compassion in comparison to children aged 3 and 5 years old. There was a nonsignificant correlation between gender and both positive and negative subscales of early self-compassion, and the same was found for both child and parent ethnicity.

To measure SES, parent income prior to the outbreak of COVID-19 was collected. Parent education level, occupation, and frequency of taking opportunity of free lunch programs offered by their child's school were also gathered to gain a more complex understanding of participants' financial statuses. No significant correlation was found between income or parent education level with either factor of early childhood self-compassion. There were no significant relationships between the SCS-EC and parent occupation, or with parents taking advantage of free lunch programs at their child's school.

Pearson's correlations were calculated between reported daily hours spent with child prior to the outbreak of COVID-19 and during (see Table 2). The data on hours spent with child per day was divided into groups of (1) under 10 hours each day, (2) 10-20 hours each day, and parents who spent (3) 20 or more hours with their child each day. All reporting groups spent significantly more time with their child during the outbreak of COVID-19 than prior (see Table 2). Furthermore in regards to COVID-19, Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated between early self-compassion scores and the daily number of hours parents spent with their

children prior to and during COVID-19. Parents who reported spending 20+ hours with their child each day during COVID-19 also reported lower negative self-compassion scores for their child (r = -.23, p = .003). Interestingly, no significant association was found between early self-compassion levels and the number of hours parents spent between parent and child prior to COVID-19.

Confirmatory Factor Analysis and Internal Consistency Reliability

Pilot Testing

Confirmatory factor analysis on responses of the pilot sample of 70 parents was conducted with the 23-item adapted scale for measuring self-compassion in early childhood using Mplus v. 8.3. Factor 1 began with 10 items representing the positive subscale of selfcompassion. This subscale had items representing self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness components of self-compassion (Neff, 2003a). Confirmatory factor analysis was used and examined for the removal of four items for a six-item subscale. One common humanity item was originally included as a control item for other common humanity items and was removed before conducting confirmatory factor analysis. Items that were removed from factor 1 failed to meet correlational standards above .3 with other positive subscale items, and two other items from factor 1 were removed due to standardized residuals being above and below the value of 2. The removal of these items in three separate models resulted in enhanced fit for factor 1. Four indicators have factor loadings between .45 and .50 due to a limited sample size and other than a high RMSEA upper bound (.146) that is also likely due to a small sample size, the final positive subscale met adequate global fit conventional standards (see Table 3).

Factor 2 represents the negative subscale of self-compassion, which began with twelve items and was trimmed down to seven items that show overall good fit. Self-judgment, isolation,

and over-identification elements of negative self-compassion are represented with factor 2. Five items were removed in three separate models, which resulted in improved global fit. Similar to factor 1, items removed from factor 2 also showed poor local fit with correlational values below .3 with other negative subscale indicators. With the removal of these indicators, remaining items loaded onto corresponding factors with adequate factor loadings the final negative subscale met adequate global fit conventional standards (see Table 4). There were no items that loaded onto both factors and there was no justification for combining factors into a single model.

Final Fit Examination of Factor 1

Final fit indices for the positive and negative factors of the Self-Compassion Scale for Early Childhood (SCS-EC) were examined using confirmatory factor analysis. Final fit for the positive factor of the SCS-EC (factor 1) was reduced from six to five items: one item representing self-kindness in early childhood, one item representing common humanity in early childhood, and three items representing early mindfulness. Initial fit for factor 1 was poor due to failure to meet correlational standards, and one item was removed. The removal of this mindfulness item from the positive subscale resulted in enhanced global fit (see Table 5). The final positive subscale of the SCS-EC demonstrated good internal consistency with a Cronbach's alpha .726. All positive components of self-compassion are represented in the SCS-EC and all items loaded onto factor 1 adequately (see Table 6). One mindfulness item has a loading slightly under .5 and the remaining positive self-compassion items have loadings that are .54 and above (see Table 6).

Final Fit Examination of Factor 2

Final fit for the negative factor of the SCS-EC was reduced from seven to five items: three items representing self-judgment in early childhood, one item representing isolation, and

one item representing early over-identification. Factor 2 demonstrated good internal consistency ($\alpha = .756$) and all loadings for the negative subscale were above .65 expect for the remaining isolation item (see Table 6). Confirmatory factor analysis was used to examine factor 2 local and global fit (see Table 5). Model 1 demonstrated initially high SRMR and CFI values but overall inadequate fit. One over-identification item and one isolation item were removed due to local fit failure and insufficient standardized loadings. Although the remaining isolation item demonstrated a low loading value, the fit of factor 2 became worse when it was removed from the model. With strong global fit and high internal consistency, the remaining isolation item was preliminarily left in the final model until it can be tested again with a larger sample size for an expected better fit. In testing for a combined scale with positive and negative subscales summed as one total score, the combined scale demonstrated adequate internal consistency ($\alpha = -.68$) but we were unable to establish adequate global fit (see Table 5).

Fit examination of Early Childhood Measures

Fit indices for each scale used in the current study to assess emotion-related characteristics in early childhood are reported below in Table 7. Fit indices including chi-square p value, RMSEA, CFI, TLI, and SRMR, as well as Cronbach's alphas for all scales can also be found in Table 7. Global fit for the Emotion Regulation Checklist (ERC) was lower than expected, with a significant chi-square and RMSEA estimate higher than .08. Two items were removed due to correlations failing to meet correlational standards, which resulted in improved fit in the ERC for this sample (χ^2 (p = .0147), RMSEA .070, CFI .932, TLI .899, SRMR .053).

The EmQue scale did not meet local fit standards, with an RMSEA estimate .11, upper bound .17, and CFI .93 (see Table 7). Normality issues involving a positive skew on one item were also detected on the EmQue scale. The item displaying nonnormality was removed and confirmatory factor analysis revealed enhanced fit (see Table 7). The self-esteem scale demonstrated good global fit except for an RMSEA upper bound .140, which may have been limited by the small sample size in this study. Except for a high upper bound, global fit is adequate for this measure of early childhood self-esteem (χ^2 (p = .462), RMSEA .000, CFI 1.000, TLI 1.005, SRMR .013). Global misfit was detected on the kiddy KINDL measure of Emotional Well-Being in early childhood, specifically indicated by a significant chi-square p value .046 and CFI .943. Selected items from the Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL) demonstrated good global fit in representing early internalizing behavior ($\chi^2 = .900$ (p = 4.17), RMSEA .000, CFI 1.00, TLI 1.18, SRMR .026).

Fit Examination of Parent Measures

Parent emotion-related characteristics are also reported below in Table 7. The short form of the self-compassion short scale demonstrated issues with local and global fit (χ^2 (p = .0003), RMSEA .070, CFI .937, TLI 1.916, SRMR .050). Two independently scored factors of the Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (ERQ) were assessed in the current research: Cognitive Reappraisal (CR) and Expressive Suppression (ES). A significant chi-square value was found in the CR factor (χ^2 (p = .0005), RMSEA .116, CFI .957, TLI .928, SRMR .037) and both factors demonstrated global fit issues with RMSEA values (ES factor: χ^2 (p = .081), RMSEA .094, CFI .986, TLI .958, SRMR .024). The Toronto Empathy Questionnaire was used to assess parent empathy scores in the current study. Fit statistics for this scale lower than what was expected, with a significant chi-square p value and inadequate CFI (χ^2 (p = .000), RMSEA .074, CFI .872, TLI .845, SRMR .066).

Validity and Hypothesis Testing

With research question 1, it was asked whether the SCS-EC would reflect a valid and reliable measurement of self-compassion in early childhood. Construct validity was determined by calculating Pearson's correlation coefficients between the SCS-EC and parent self-compassion scores, using the short form of Neff's self-compassion scale (SCS-SF; 2003). As hypothesized, the positive subscale of early self-compassion was positively and significantly related to the Self-Compassion Scale-Short Form (SCS-SF). The negative subscale of the SCS-EC was found to be negatively and significantly associated with adult self-compassion (see Table 8). This measure of construct validity should be considered preliminary, since parent self-compassion is not considered a complete representation of their child's self-compassion.

Concurrent validity was tested between the positive and negative subscales of early selfcompassion and early self-esteem, emotional well-being and empathy. Positive and significant correlations were found between the positive subscale and self-esteem (r = .50, p = .000), emotional well-being (r = .38, p = .000), while the negative subscale showed negative and significant associations with self-esteem (r = ..44, p = .000) and emotional well-being (r = ..46, p = .000). No significance was found between positive and negative subscales of early selfcompassion with early empathy. No association was found between this subscale of empathy with positive and negative measures of early self-compassion. Convergent validity was tested by calculating Pearson's correlation coefficients between both subscales of the early selfcompassion with early emotion regulation, which was measured with the Emotion Regulation Checklist (ERC). As expected, a positive and significant correlation was found with the ERC and the positive subscale of the early SCS, r = .62, p = .000). Additionally, the negative subscale of the early self-compassion scale demonstrated a negative and significant correlation with the ERC (see Table 8). Secondly, we asked whether the SCS-EC would be associated with other emotion-related characteristics such as temperament and internalizing behaviors. To assess temperament, a oneitem temperament scale was used, which asked parents to choose one of three vignettes characterizing the temperament that best represents their child. A positive and significant correlation coefficient was found between the positive subscale of the SCS-EC and the effortful control child, r = .18, p = .02, and a negative association with the negative affectivity child, r = .34, p = .00 (see Table 8). As expected, the negative factor of the SCS-EC was positively and significantly associated with the temperament factor, negative affectivity (r = .354, p = .00), and the positive factor of the SCS-EC was negatively and significantly associated with negative affectivity and significantly associated with negative affectivity and significantly associated with negative factor of the SCS-EC was negatively and significantly associated with negative affectivity (r = .344, p = .00).

In testing for significance between the SCS-EC and internalizing behaviors in early childhood, Pearson's correlations were conducted. To assess internalizing behaviors, items from the Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL) were carefully selected to represent challenging characteristics that were conceptually related to the negative factor of early self-compassion. This measure for internalizing behavior in early childhood did not share collinearity with either subscale of the SCS-EC (VIF < 3, loadings < .1). As hypothesized, both positive and negative factors of early self-compassion were found to be correlated with internalizing behaviors. The positive factor shared a significant correlational coefficient of -.334 (p = .00) with internalizing behavior and the negative factor of early self-compassion shared a positive and significant coefficient, r = .457 (p = .00).

Third, it was hypothesized that preliminary evidence of a socialization process (congruence) between parent and child would be highlighted with similar correlation coefficient scores in emotion-related characteristics. Construct validity was determined in answer to

research question 1, and with a high correlation coefficient between adult and early childhood self-compassion levels (see Table 8). No significance was found between adult and early childhood empathy or with the cognitive reappraisal (CR) facet of parent emotion regulation and parent reports of early childhood emotion regulation. A Pearson's correlation did, however, indicate a negative association between the parent expressive suppression (ES) factor of emotion regulation and the emotion regulation of their child (r = -.158, p = .04).

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

This preliminary research on self-compassion in early childhood centers around the quantifying of early accumulated positive coping methods related to self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness which hinder negative developing habits related to self-judgment, isolation and over-identification facets of self-compassion. The preliminary Self-Compassion Scale for Early Childhood (SCS-EC) was hypothesized to be related to self-compassion in adulthood. As expected, both positive and negative factors of self-compassion were significantly associated with parent self-compassion scores, using Raes and colleagues (2011) Self-Compassion Scale-Short Form (SCS-SF).

Several questions pertaining to participant demographic information were included in the collection of data for this research (N = 185) in order to properly test the validity of the Self-Compassion Scale for Early Childhood (SCS-EC). In the analysis presented, the factor structure of the self-compassion scale for early childhood was examined across sex, age, ethnicity, socioeconomic status (SES), and for the impact of COVID-19 on the family. Due to a limited sample size, ethnicity and SES are narrowly represented in this sample. By collecting relevant information regarding time spent with children during and prior to COVID-19, we were able to examine how current challenges may be impacting the emotional well-being of children, as reported by their parents.

Demographic Sample Characteristics

Age

It appears that children aged 3 years old behave in ways that demonstrate less negativity toward themselves than children aged 5 years old. Earlier evidence of developing perspective-taking and self-conscious behaviors have been noted in children much younger (Crozier, 2010) and we were able to capture a similar pattern in the current research as well. It is likely that this range from 3 to 5 years is when self-compassion emerges in early childhood, at least in ways that are more detectable to parents. This relationship between age and emerging self-compassion is interesting, and findings are supported by theory and prior literature that discuss the development of emotion-related behaviors such as emotion regulation and effortful control as emerging in more complex ways during ages 4 and 5 years (Rothbart et al., 1994; Eisenberg & Morris, 2002; Simonds et al., 2007). One possible implication of these findings is that as perspective-taking abilities develop more fluently by 5 years old, children then have the capacity to begin making negative and positive comparisons between themselves and others, and feelings of self-worth may decrease.

Gender and Ethnicity

By having 45% male and 55% female, early childhood gender was well represented in this study. Neff and McGehee (2010) have shown in several studies that females report engaging in more negative self-talk, ruminative thoughts, and socially withdrawing habits that formulate an overall lower self-compassion score than males (Neff & McGehee, 2010). It was interesting to see no trend of this finding in early childhood; however, no significance here may be more theoretically consistent with early emotional development. The sample for this study was not ethnically diverse. In contrast to self-compassion in adulthood (Neff et al., 2008), it is possible

that the SCS-EC scale assesses an emotion-related characteristic that does not vary in significance between ethnicity. Interpretations of this finding, however, are limited to sample demographics for this study and should be explored in later research.

Socioeconomic Status

To assess the SES of the sample, we took inventory on participant occupation, annual income prior to the outbreak of COVID-19, and educational background. Additionally, parents were asked whether they took opportunity of free lunch programs offered by their child's childcare center or school. From this sample of parents, approximately 14% reported to make less than \$40,00 annually, and slightly less than 65% reported making over \$70,000 each year. The majority of participants had at least received a bachelor's degree, and most frequently reported occupations were 17.5% Stay-At-Home Parents, 7% Classroom Teachers, 5% Students and 5% University Faculty Professors. Parents who reported to sometimes take opportunity of the free lunch program at their child's school were 6%. Approximately 7% always participated in this government offered program, and the remainder of individuals reported to have never received free lunches from their child's school. Pearson's correlations confirmed no significant findings between any measure of SES with either factor of the SCS-EC.

Impact of COVID-19 on the Family

Data collection for this research was timely for gathering information about the amount of time parents were spending with their children prior to and during COVID-19. By having to avoid regular social outings and interactions two months into our nation's economically shifting response to COVID-19, personal routines have been thrown off and mental health issues have gone both unaddressed and untreated for many (Holmes et al., 2020). As we know, children can be negatively impacted by the mental health crises of their parents (Murray & Cooper, 1997;

Takács et al., 2020). By asking about how many hours a day children were spending with at least one parent during the COVID-19 outbreak, we found that children who spent at least 20 hours each day with their parent during COVID-19 showed significantly lower scores on the negative factor of the SCS-EC. Since the SCS-EC asks parents to report on behaviors they notice their child to generally engage in, it is likely that parents with more physical presence in their child's daily routine felt confident reporting fewer general negative behaviors. An additional implication of this finding may be that children receiving more quality time with their parents during COVID-19 exhibited fewer behaviors tied to feelings of self-criticism, withdrawal, and negative affect as an outcome of more quality time spent with parents.

Self-Compassion Scale for Early Childhood (SCS-EC): 2-Factor Model

Parents typically have opportunity to observe their child's interactions with others and guide a large portion of their child's social and emotional development (Spinrad et al., 2020). By asking parents about positive and negative emotion-related behaviors their children generally engage in, we were able to map, preliminarily, how and when self-compassion emerges in early childhood. It was important to keep the positive and negative components of self-compassion together with the SCS-EC 2-factor model structure so that the construct would remain operationally consistent with how self-compassion is currently measured in adulthood (Neff, 2003a). Prior research shows the emergence of positive and negative features of self-compassion as early as age 9 years old (Stolow et al., 2016). As a highly correlated associate of emotion regulation and attachment security (Wei et al., 2011; Trompetter et al., 2017), it is likely self-compassion begins to emerge as soon as emotion regulatory processes emerge and children begin to problem-solve with coping methods.

Factor 1: Positive Self-Compassion in Early Childhood

Early relationships between children and their peers begin in the first year of life and grow more complex as social play and peer preferences form during preschool years (Hay et al., 2004). As we know, treatment toward peers in very early childhood can vary and for this reason, parents were asked to report the overall frequency pattern their child tends to exhibit toward their peers and toward themselves. By asking parents how their child responds, emotionally and behaviorally, when upset or disappointed, approximately 80% of the sample said their child typically seeks comfort and affection from a parent or close peer. In answer to an item that represented the opposing facet to common humanity, isolation, parents answered that 26% of children in this study tended to withdraw from others when sad or disappointed.

Common humanity is assessed in adulthood as a complex and multifaceted mindset that involves an individual's understanding that any form of failure, grief, happiness, or success that we experience in life is also shared by others (Neff, 2003a). An individual with high common humanity can theoretically feel connected to others in positive and meaningful ways throughout all harsh and joyful moments in life. Before this positive mindset can fully emerge, however, children first begin to recognize their attachment figures as social and emotional resources toward optimal growth and development and this emerges as a coping method against distress (Bernzweig et al., 1993; Eisenberg & Morris, 2002). The development of this common humanity mindset in early childhood is likely to be mediated by attachment style, as it is in adulthood (Wei et al., 2011), although attachment style was not assessed in the current research.

Mindfulness is represented with three items in the final SCS-EC model. These questions for parents led to responses about how frequently children engaged in effortful control and cognitive distraction to cope with difficult emotions. One item assessing early mindfulness was

phrased to ask parents about the speed at which their child typically recovers from negative emotions. High loadings for mindfulness items were expected, given that mindful resilience is one factor of self-compassion that has been evaluated in early childhood mindfulness-based programs for efficacy and validity (Thierry et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2020).

Factor 2: Negative Self-Compassion in Early Childhood

All six components of self-compassion are represented in the final 2-factor structure of the SCS-EC. Final fit for the negative factor of the SCS-EC (factor 2) includes 5 items. Self-judgment is represented with three items, isolation is represented with one item, and over-identification is also represented with one item. As soon as children begin to recognize themselves as individuals with separate thoughts and feelings from others and as early as children can feel poorly about themselves when criticized, self-compassion is likely to emerge. In regards to theory of mind, developmental theorists and prestigious researchers show mixed reports. Many have contributed findings that support theory of mind as a state of cognitive understanding that emerges in detectable ways as early as 3 years old (Wellman et al., 2001; Southgate et al., 2007; Slaughter et al., 2015).

Similarly, behaviors indicative of internalization, which include social withdrawal and low self-worth, are observed in children as early as 2 years old (Zero to Three, 2016). Research indicates that self-critical and negative cognitions are not only heightened with early maltreatment, these individuals are also likely to engage in less self-compassion as they age (Messman-Moore & Bhuptani, 2020). A more common precursor to developing self-critical tendencies is harsh and self-critical parenting (McCranie & Bass, 1984; Bleys et al., 2016). Bleys and colleagues (2012) found that parent demonstrations of self-criticism contribute to self-

criticism in their adolescent children, and this finding was more robust between mothers and their daughters.

Negative outcomes have been predicted from isolating habits indicative of early social withdrawal such as consistent solitary play (Coplan & Weeks, 2010). In adulthood, isolation is assessed by asking whether individuals feel emotionally isolated in the midst of failure and negativity rather than feeling apart of the human experience (Neff, 2003a). To assess isolation in early childhood, parents were asked about their child's tendency to withdraw from others when sad or disappointed. It was hypothesized with this research that isolation would demonstrate good fit on factor 2. After removing one isolation item that had low correlational coefficients with other items on factor 2, the remaining isolation item was also observed to have a low loading. The model structure for factor 2 was rerun with and without the remaining isolation item and model fit was actually worse when isolation was excluded from the CFA. This was apparent by a significant chi-square *p* value, RMSEA estimate above .08 and RMSEA upper bound above .1. It is possible that a better reading of early isolation may emerge during ages 5 to 7 years old, and this possibility should be explored with future research.

Over-identifying failure and negative attributes toward oneself has been known to reduce with the practice of self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness, specifically, with reductions to rumination and thought suppression (Ferrari et al., 2019; Neff et al., 2020). For this research, over-identification in early childhood is defined as a low capacity to engage in effortful control and positive reappraisal in overcoming negative feelings and past experiences. Although these effortful control abilities develop more fluently by age 5 (Rothbart et al., 1994), strong indicators have been observed, prior. In one study, self-consciousness and negative affect were

shown to be significantly heightened for children as young as 4 years old as the result of negative evaluation of a task their child had recently completed (Garber et al., 2019).

From early mental health diagnostics, we know that feelings of low self-worth and negative self-evaluations begin as early as 3 years old for some (Zero to Three, 2016). Having a parent with a mental illness such as depression also places children at a greater risk for developing self-conscious beliefs about themselves as they age (Petterson & Albers, 2001). Maternal depression is widely known to have an impact on child cognitive, emotional, and motor development (Murray & Cooper, 1997; Petterson & Albers, 2001). By assessing this common and very humanlike tendency to over-identify with negative cognitions earlier in life, we may be able to limit the severity of these cognitions with specified prevention and interventive services for children and their families.

Examination of Early Childhood and Parent Scales

All scales were examined for local and global fit indices. Emotion regulation in early childhood was examined with the Emotion Regulation Checklist (ERC), which asked parents about their child's expressed concern for others, social conduct, affect, and ability to communicate their own feelings. This scale demonstrated lower fit than expected, with a significant chi-square *p* value and CFI under .95 at .93.

The Empathy Questionnaire (EmQue) was used in this study for the purpose of examining early emotional reactions to the feelings of others in early childhood. The EmQue scale displayed nonnormality with a positive skew on one item that asked parents whether their child looks up when another child cries. This item represented a behavior that 84% of the current study's sample answered their child was often likely to exhibit. Global fit for this scale was

lower than expected but improved with the removal of the item that displayed nonnormality (χ^2 (p = .008).

Parents answered questions about the confidence and emotional stability demonstrated by their child within the last week with Self-Esteem and Emotional Well-Being subscales from the Kiddy KINDL. These subscales were measured and checked for sufficient global fit. The Self-Esteem subscale demonstrated excellent global fit, and the Emotional Well-Being subscale demonstrated a low CFI and TLI as well as a significant chi-square *p* value.

Items from the internalizing behavior subscale were selected from the Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL) and tested for model fit. These items were used to ask parents how frequently internalizing behaviors including anxiety, self-conscious embarrassment, and rapid mood shifts were recently demonstrated by their child. Initially, these selected items were chosen to test for collinearity with the SCS-EC during pilot testing. A VIF under 3 and loading under .1 revealed no significant overlap between these two measures. Internal consistency for this measure was poor and outcomes from this measure should be considered cautiously; however, once one item was removed due to local fit failure, the scale demonstrated excellent global fit. All scales demonstrated some level of misfit including significant chi-square *p* values, which can be found in fit indices (see Table 7).

Hypotheses Testing

Validity

The Self-Compassion Scale for Early Childhood (SCS-EC) demonstrated adequate construct validity. Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated for a positive and significant association between child and parent self-compassion, as well as for a negative and significant relationship between factor 2 (Negative SCS-EC) with parent self-compassion. Parent

and child emotion-related characteristics should be related (Spinrad et al., 2020) but not necessarily identical. Since there is currently no other scale for measuring early self-compassion, the decision to compare child self-compassion scores with parent scores seemed acceptable for this introductory research.

Concurrent validity was used to test for a positive relationship between early selfcompassion and other early childhood emotion-related characteristics including self-esteem, emotional well-being, and empathy. The empathy subscale, attention to the feelings of other's, was used to examine early empathy and no association was found with early self-compassion. Concurrent validity was determined with the Kiddy KINDL measure for self-esteem in early childhood. This finding is consistent with previous research relating self-compassion to selfesteem but as distinct constructs (Neff, 2003a; Marshall et al., 2015). Concurrent validity was also determined between early self-compassion and early childhood emotional well-being (p =.000). Validity between these measures should be considered preliminarily, however, due to the poor fit indices on the emotional well-being scale.

It was hypothesized that the SCS-EC would be significantly associated to the ERC measure of emotion regulation in early childhood. This was true for both factors of early self-compassion. Specifically, self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness items were positively related to emotion regulation. Self-judgment, isolation, and over-identification items of the SCS-EC were negatively related to this measure of emotion regulation in early childhood.

SCS-EC and Positive and Negative Early Characteristics

Temperament. Both positive and negative factors of early self-compassion were significantly correlated with parent-reported temperament of their child. Classical test theory, principal component analysis and item response modeling were drawn from by Sleddens and

colleagues (2012) in recreating a shortened, one-item version of the 36-item Child Behavior Questionnaire. This one-item temperament scale has three vignette response for parents to choose the temperament style that best describes their child. Pearson's correlations coefficients were calculated to determine the relationship between temperament and early self-compassion. Specifically, "The Effortful Control Child" was found to have significantly higher early selfcompassion on factor 1 (Positive SCS-EC). This outcome makes sense given that effortful control is a cognitive capacity related to mindfulness, and mindfulness serves as one of three facets of self-compassion (Rothbart et al., 1994; Eisenberg & Morris, 2002; Neff, 2003a). The effortful control child can sustain their attention for long periods of time while working on projects and can easily enjoy their work. This child also shows awareness of their situation and can adapt when plans alter (Sleddens et al., 2012).

We also found an association between "Negative/Affectivity" temperament style and early self-compassion scores for their children. As expected, the positive subscale of the SCS-EC showed a negative relationship with negative affectivity and the opposite significant relationship was found with the negative subscale of early self-compassion. The negative affectivity child shows their frustration and becomes easily distressed and is difficult to calm when upset (Sleddens et al., 2012). Themes of early over-identification and self-criticism appear in this style of temperament. One possible explanation for this finding is that children who are easily distressed and not easily calmed may also be less likely to engage in less mindful-awareness, self-soothing, and other positive coping methods that promote self-compassion. When these early positive coping skills are nonexistent or deficient in some way, we expect to find the child to be less emotionally regulated (Eisenberg et al., 1993; Eisenberg & Morris, 2002) and less selfcompassionate.

The last temperament style assessed was "The Surgency Child", who are children described as easily excitable, full of energy, quick-moving on the playground, and eager to meet new faces (Sleddens et al., 2012). Neither factor of early self-compassion was related to the surgency temperament style.

Internalizing behaviors. Items were selected from the CBCL to represent internalizing behaviors that parents reported their children aged 3 to 5 years old to have demonstrated within the past two months. Although internal consistency was poor for this adapted 6-item measure of internalizing behavior in early childhood, confirmatory factor analysis revealed this scale to have excellent fit indices. As hypothesized, internalizing behaviors including anxiety, withdrawal, self-conscious embarrassment, and rapid mood fluctuation were significantly related to both positive and negative subscales of the SCS-EC. This finding is not surprising given that highly self-compassionate adults and adolescents tend to have significantly lower anxiety, isolating tendencies, and depressive symptoms in comparison to those with low self-compassion (Neff, 2003a; Muris et al., 2016; Stolow et al., 2016).

Self-Compassion Socialization Process

In the current study, it was expected that both factors of the early self-compassion scale would be significantly related to parent self-compassion and results revealed this to be true. It was also hypothesized that early emotion regulation would be significantly associated with parent emotion regulation. A significant association between parent expressive suppression and early childhood emotion regulation emerged. Expressive suppression was assessed by asking parents about their tendency to keep their emotions to themselves and this area of emotion dysregulation was negatively related to the ERC measure for early childhood emotion regulation. The cognitive reappraisal factor of the ERQ was assessed by asking parents how well they are

able to mentally reframe problems and stress in ways that are beneficial. The cognitive reappraisal subscale was not significantly associated with child emotion regulation.

Additionally, Pearson's correlations coefficients were calculated to explore the hypothesis that child and parent empathy would be related. Significant associations between female and mother self-esteem levels have been noted in previous research (Sharifi et al., 2011) and a similar association was expected in early childhood; however, no association was found. In future studies, dyadic analysis will be conducted to examine the direct influence of parental attributes on early childhood characteristics.

Although parent gender was not assessed, about 13% of participants received the survey directly from the Primary Investigator (PI) of the research and the PI recruited only to mothers. Also, approximately 76.2% of the remaining sample received access to the survey through social media postings to mom-group pages. It can, therefore, be assumed the majority of surveys were completed by females and we can cautiously interpret the findings of emotion-related socialization as being between mothers and their children.

The findings of the current study are consistent with Eisenberg, Cumberland and Spinrad's (1998) logic that along with culture and context, parent emotion-related behaviors significantly influence the development of child emotion-related characteristics and behaviors. Characteristics that undergo this transmission process have been called emotion-related socialization behaviors (ERSBs; Spinrad et al., 2020). When parents model of a selfcompassionate lifestyle and coach children kindly, with positive coping methods rather than with harshness, children experience a similar level of self-compassion to that of their parent.

Self-compassion does not emerge in adolescence without previous priming, and research supports this. Longitudinal research implies that children as young as 9 years old improve in self-

compassion scores after only three months and this was without any intervention or treatment plan (Stolow et al., 2016). In another longitudinal study, self-compassion was found to moderate the association between self-esteem and mental health from 9th to 10th grade (Marshall et al., 2015). Self-compassion serving as a mediator between attachment and mindfulness, well-being, and several other positive identifiers of overall emotional stability suggests attachment as a key antecedent to early emerging self-compassion (Neff & McGehee, 2010; Vettese et al., 2011; Hollis-Walker, & Colosimo, 2011; Westphal et al., 2016).

Strengths, Limitations and Future Directions

This research is relevant for positive social and emotional well-being in early childhood, but does not claim to be conclusive. Limitations included a relatively small and predominantly Caucasian sample for confirmatory factor analysis. Although it is likely that most participating parents were female based on recruitment sources (Facebook mom groups), parent gender was not assessed. Failure to collect this information limited the analysis since we were unable to evaluate specific gender-of-parent with gender-of-child associations. This would have allowed for making comparisons between parent and child characteristics that would have permitted greater exploration of a socialization process. There were also issues with global fit detected on several scales. Collecting data during the COVID-19 outbreak was advantageous in many ways but likely led to some selection bias because parents who felt they had enough time to complete a survey during COVID-19 are the ones who participated.

As anticipated, fit indices for the SCS-EC were adequate for both factors and all original self-compassion components from Neff's original scale were included in this adapted scale for young children. Self-kindness, self-judgment, common humanity, isolation, mindfulness, and over-identification are all included as positive or negative coping methods demonstrative of

emerging self-compassion in early childhood. Construct, concurrent and convergent validity were determined and all internal consistencies were all acceptable except for the CBCL Internalizing Behaviors scale.

Future directions for this research will involve qualitative and quantitative assessments with parents and their children. A child task and longitudinal design are needed to test construct validity in greater depth and to understand better what aspects of self-compassion first emerge, how it changes over time, and what main factors contribute to this change over time. A longitudinal design should also provide more understanding about how self-compassion is socialized from parent to child over time. Attachment style between parent and child must be examined to understand truly how the attachment relationship influences the congruence between parent and child self-compassion. Parent and child mental health are additional factors that will need to be examined with early emerging self-compassion in order to fully conceptualize its impact. Implications of this research pertain to both clinical and educational settings, and the long-term goal of this research is to incorporate self-compassion into early therapeutic practice and the development of social-emotional curricula for early childhood programs.

CHAPTER VI

CONCLUSION

Research shows that multiple facets of emotional stability, including emotion regulation, improve with regular practice of self-compassion and early childhood is arguably a time in life when these protective factors are most needed. By tracking early positive and negative emotions and coping strategies related to areas of emerging self-compassion, we were able to gain a better understanding of this resilient-related characteristic in early childhood. With this research, we introduce an important conversation about emerging self-compassion and its socialization. As a successful resilience mechanism for improving emotional well-being, self-compassion has the potential to become an excellent alternative to self-esteem as a goal of parenting strategies in early childhood. With this preliminary scale (SCS-EC), we can now identify and evaluate demonstrations of self-compassion in early childhood.

REFERENCES

- Abela, J.R.Z. & Taxel, E. (2001, June). Vulnerability to specific life events: Personality predispositions to depression in schoolchildren. Paper presented at the meeting of the Canadian Psychological Association, Quebec City, Canada.
- Achenbach, T. M., & Rescorla, L. A. (2001). Manual for the ASEBA school-age forms & profiles: an integrated system of multi-informant assessment Burlington, VT: University of Vermont. *Research Center for Children, Youth, & Families, 1617*.
- Ainsworth, M. D. S. (1992). A consideration of social referencing in the context of attachment theory and research. In *Social referencing and the social construction of reality in infancy* (pp. 349-367). Springer, Boston, MA.
- Alicke, M. D., & Govorun, O. (2005). The better-than-average effect. *The self in social judgment*, *1*, 85-106.
- Baillargeon, R. H., Zoccolillo, M., Keenan, K., Côté, S., Pérusse, D., Wu, H. X., Boivin, M. & Tremblay, R. E. (2007). Gender differences in physical aggression: A prospective population-based survey of children before and after 2 years of age. *Developmental psychology*, *43*(1), 13.
- Bakker, A. M., Cox, D. W., Hubley, A. M., & Owens, R. L. (2019). Emotion Regulation as a Mediator of Self-Compassion and Depressive Symptoms in Recurrent Depression. *Mindfulness*, 10(6), 1169-1180.

Bandura, A. (1977). Social Learning Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

- Barrett, K. C., & Campos, J. J. (1987). Perspectives on emotional development II: A functionalist approach to emotions. In J. D. Osofsky (Ed.), *Handbook of infant development., 2nd ed.* (pp. 555–578). Oxford: John Wiley & Sons. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohostcom.argo.library.okstate.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=1987-97963-010&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Beaumont, E., Durkin, M., Hollins Martin, C. J., & Carson, J. (2016). Measuring relationships between self-compassion, compassion fatigue, burnout and well-being in student counsellors and student cognitive behavioural psychotherapists: a quantitative survey. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research*, 16(1), 15-23.
- Bergen, D. (2018). Commentary: Implications from Brain Research for Early Development and Education. *EC Neurology*, *10*, 195-198.
- Bernzweig, J., Eisenberg, N., & Fabes, R. A. (1993). Children' s coping in self-and otherrelevant contexts. *Journal of experimental child psychology*, *55*(2), 208-226.
- Berry, J. O., & Jones, W. H. (1995). The Parental Stress Scale: Initial psychometric evidence. Journal of Social and Personal Relationships, 12, 463-472.
- Berryhill, M. B., Harless, C., & Kean, P. (2018). College student cohesive-flexible family functioning and mental health: Examining gender differences and the mediation effects of positive family communication and self-compassion. *The Family Journal*, *26*(4), 422-432.
- Bierman, K. L., Kalvin, C. B., & Heinrichs, B. S. (2015). Early childhood precursors and adolescent sequelae of grade school peer rejection and victimization. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 44(3), 367-379.

- Birnie, K., Speca, M., & Carlson, L. E. (2010). Exploring self-compassion and empathy in the context of mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR). *Stress and Health*, *26*(5), 359-371.
- Blatt, S. J. (2004). *Experiences of depression: Theoretical, clinical, and research perspectives*. American Psychological Association.
- Bleys, D., Soenens, B., Boone, L., Claes, S., Vliegen, N., & Luyten, P. (2016). The role of intergenerational similarity and parenting in adolescent self-criticism: An actor-partner interdependence model. *Journal of Adolescence*, 49, 68–76.
- Bluth, K., & Eisenlohr-Moul, T. A. (2017). Response to a mindful self-compassion intervention in teens: A within-person association of mindfulness, self-compassion, and emotional well-being outcomes. *Journal of Adolescence*, 57, 108-118.
- Blyth, D., Weissberg, R. P., & Durlak, J. (2019). Applied social and emotional learning (SEL)
 research that fosters quality practice at scale. *Journal of Research in Innovative Teaching*& Learning.
- Brackett, M. A., Rivers, S. E., Reyes, M. R., & Salovey, P. (2012). Enhancing academic performance and social and emotional competence with the RULER feeling words curriculum. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 22, 218-224. doi:10.1016/j.lindif.2010.10.002
- Bretherton, I. (1996). Internal working models of attachment relationships as related to resilient coping. In G. G. Noam & K. W. Fischer (Eds.), *Development and vulnerability in close relationships*. (pp. 3–27). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohost-

com.argo.library.okstate.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=1996-97225-001&site=ehost-live&scope=site

- Brown B. (1999). *Soul without shame: A guide to liberating yourself from the judge within.* Boston: Shambala.
- Campos, J. J., Campos, R. G., & Barrett, K. C. (1989). Emergent themes in the study of emotional development and emotion regulation. *Developmental psychology*, 25(3), 394.
- Caprara, G. V., Barbaranelli, C., Pastorelli, C., Bandura, A., & Zimbardo, P. G. (2000). Prosocial foundations of children's academic achievement. *Psychological science*, *11*(4), 302-306.
- Cardaciotto, L., Herbert, J. D., Forman, E. M., Moitra, E., & Farrow, V. (2008). The assessment of present-moment awareness and acceptance: The Philadelphia Mindfulness Scale. *Assessment*, *15*(2), 204-223.
- Cassisa, C. & Neff, K. D. (2019). The promise of self-compassion for solos. *GPSolo*, *36*(3), 18-21.
- Chapman, D. P., Wheaton, A. G., Anda, R. F., Croft, J. B., Edwards, V. J., Liu, Y., Sturgis, S. L.
 & Perry, G. S. (2011). Adverse childhood experiences and sleep disturbances in adults. *Sleep medicine*, *12*(8), 773-779.
- Codol, J. P. (1975). On the so-called "superior conformity of the self" behavior: Twenty experimental investigations. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, *5*, 457–501.
- College Board. (1976–1977). Student descriptive questionnaire. Princeton, NJ: Educational Testing Service.
- Colvin, C. R., Block, J., & Funder, D. C. (1995). Overly positive self-evaluations and personality: Negative implications for mental health. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 68(6), 1152–1162. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.68.6.1152

- Coplan, R. J., & Weeks, M. (2010). Unsociability in middle childhood: Conceptualization, assessment, and associations with socio-emotional functioning. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 56, 105–130. https://doi.org/10.1353/mpq.2010.0005
- Crozier, W. R. (2010). Shyness and the development of embarrassment and the self-conscious emotions. In K. H. Rubin & R. J. Coplan (Eds.), *The development of shyness and social withdrawal.* (pp. 42–63). Guilford Press.
- Cutting, A. L., & Dunn, J. (2002). The cost of understanding other people: Social cognition predicts young children's sensitivity to criticism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 43(7), 849-860.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). The general causality orientations scale: Self-determination in personality. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *19*, 109–134.
- Dewsaran-van der Ven, C., van Broeckhuysen-Kloth, S., Thorsell, S., Scholten, R., De Gucht, V., & Geenen, R. (2018). Self-compassion in somatoform disorder. *Psychiatry research*, 262, 34-39.
- Eisenberg, N., Cumberland, A. & Spinrad, T. L. (1998). Socialization of emotion. *Psychological Inquiry*, 9, 241-273.
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Bernzweig, J., Karbon, M., Poulin, R., & Hanish, L. (1993). The relations of emotionality and regulation to preschoolers' social skills and sociometric status. *Child development*, 64(5), 1418-1438.
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Carlo, G., & Karbon, M. (1992). Emotional responsivity to others:
 Behavioral correlates and socialization antecedents. *New Directions in Child Development*, 55, 57–73.

- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., & Murphy, B. C. (1996). Parents' reactions to children's negative emotions: Relations to children's social competence and comforting behavior. *Child development*, 67(5), 2227-2247.
- Eisenberg, N., & Morris, A. S. (2002). Children's emotion-related regulation. In R. V. Kail (Ed.), Advances in child development and behavior, Vol. 30 (p. 189–229). Academic Press.

Elkind, D. (1967). Egocentrism in adolescence. Child Development, 38, 1025–1034.

- Ensink, K., & Mayes, L. C. (2010). The development of mentalization in children from a theory of mind perspective. *Psychoanalytic Inquiry*, *30*(4), 301–337. Pii 92446930410.1080/07351690903206504
- Fan, X., Miller, B. C., Park, K. E., Winward, B. W., Christensen, M., Grotevant, H. D., & Tai, R.
 H. (2006). An exploratory study about inaccuracy and invalidity in adolescent self-report surveys. *Field Methods*, *18*(3), 223-244.
- Feldman, R. (2007). Parent–infant synchrony: Biological foundations and developmental outcomes. *Current directions in psychological science*, *16*(6), 340-345.
- Feldman, R., & Greenbaum, C. W. (1997). Affect regulation and synchrony in mother—infant play as precursors to the development of symbolic competence. *Infant Mental Health Journal: Official Publication of The World Association for Infant Mental Health*, 18(1), 4-23.
- Ferrari, M., Hunt, C., Harrysunker, A., Abbott, M. J., Beath, A. P., & Einstein, D. A. (2019). Self-compassion interventions and psychosocial outcomes: A meta-analysis of RCTs. *Mindfulness*, 10(8), 1455–1473. doi:10.1007/s12671-019-01134-6

- Findlay, L. C., Girardi, A., & Coplan, R. J. (2006). Links between empathy, social behavior, and social understanding in early childhood. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 21(3), 347-359.
- Flook, L., Goldberg, S. B., Pinger, L., & Davidson, R. J. (2015). Promoting prosocial behavior and self-regulatory skills in preschool children through a mindfulness-based kindness curriculum. *Developmental psychology*, 51(1), 44.
- Frostadottir, A. D., & Dorjee, D. (2019). Effects of Mindfulness Based Cognitive Therapy (MBCT) and Compassion Focused Therapy (CFT) on Symptom Change, Mindfulness, Self-Compassion and Rumination in Clients with Depression, Anxiety and Stress. *Frontiers in psychology*, *10*, 1099.
- Gallegos, M. I., Jacobvitz, D. B., Sasaki, T., & Hazen, N. L. (2019). Parents' perceptions of their spouses' parenting and infant temperament as predictors of parenting and coparenting. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 33(5), 542.
- Garber, J., Goodman, S. H., Brunwasser, S. M., Frankel, S. A., & Herrington, C. G. (2019). The effect of content and tone of maternal evaluative feedback on self-cognitions and affect in young children. *Journal of experimental child psychology*, *182*, 151-165.
- Germer, C. & Neff, K. D. (2019). Mindful Self-Compassion (MSC). In I. Itvzan (Ed.) The handbook of mindfulness-based programs: Every established intervention, from medicine to education (pp. 357-367). London: Routledge.
- Gilbert P., & Irons C. (2005). Focused therapies and compassionate mind training for shame and self attacking. In P. Gilbert (Ed.), Compassion: Conceptualisations, Research and Use in Psychotherapy (pp. 263–325). London, UK: Routledge.

- Gilbert, P., & Irons, C. (2009). Shame, self-criticism, and self-compassion in adolescence. Adolescent emotional development and the emergence of depressive disorders, 1, 195-214.
- Gilbert, P., & Woodyatt, L. (2017). An evolutionary approach to shame-based self-criticism, self-forgiveness, and compassion. In *Handbook of the psychology of self-forgiveness* (pp. 29-41). Springer, Cham.
- Gilliam, W. S. (2005). *Prekindergarteners left behind: Expulsion rates in state prekindergarten systems*. New York, NY: Foundation for Child Development.
- Girme, Y. U., Jones, R. E., Fleck, C., Simpson, J. A., & Overall, N. C. (2020). Infants' attachment insecurity predicts attachment-relevant emotion regulation strategies in adulthood. *Emotion*. https://doi-org.argo.library.okstate.edu/10.1037/emo0000721.supp (Supplemental)
- Gioia, G. A., Espy, K. A., & Isquith, P. K. (2003). Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function - Preschool Version. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Goldstein, J., & Kornfield, J. (1987). Seeking the heart of wisdom: The path of insight meditation. Boston: Shambhala
- Gottman, J. M., Katz, L. F., & Hooven, C. (1996). Parental meta-emotion philosophy and the emotional life of families: Theoretical models and preliminary data. *Journal of family psychology*, 10(3), 243.
- Gravener, J. A., Rogosch, F. A., Oshri, A., Narayan, A. J., Cicchetti, D., & Toth, S. L. (2012).
 The relations among maternal depressive disorder, maternal expressed emotion, and toddler behavior problems and attachment. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, 40(5), 803-813.

- Grolnick, W. S., Kurowski, C. O., McMenamy, J. M., Rivkin, I., & Bridges, L. J. (1998).
 Mothers' strategies for regulating their toddlers' distress. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 21(3), 437-450.
- Gross, J. J., & John, O. P. (2003). Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 85(2), 348.
- Harpin, S. B., Rossi, A., Kim, A. K., & Swanson, L. M. (2016). Behavioral impacts of a mindfulness pilot intervention for elementary school students. *Education*, 137(2), 149-156.
- Harrington, E. M., Trevino, S. D., Lopez, S., & Giuliani, N. R. (2020). Emotion regulation in early childhood: Implications for socioemotional and academic components of school readiness. *Emotion*, 20(1), 48–53. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000667
- Hay, D. F., Payne, A., & Chadwick, A. (2004). Peer relations in childhood. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry*, 45(1), 84-108.
- Heider, F. (1958). The psychology of interpersonal relations. New York: Wiley.
- Hills, P., & Argyle, M. (2002). The Oxford Happiness Questionnaire: A compact scale for the measurement of psychological well-being. *Personality and Individual Differences, 33*, 1073–1082.
- Hoffmann, J. D., Brackett, M. A., Bailey, C. S., & Willner, C. J. (2020). Teaching emotion regulation in schools: Translating research into practice with the RULER approach to social and emotional learning. *Emotion*, 20(1), 105–109.

- Hollis-Walker, L., & Colosimo, K. (2011). Mindfulness, self-compassion, and happiness in nonmeditators: A theoretical and empirical examination. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 50, 222–227.
- Holmes, E. A., O'Connor, R. C., Perry, V. H., Tracey, I., Wessely, S., Arseneault, L., Ballard, C., Christensen, H., Silver, R. C., Everall, I., Ford, T., John, A., Kabir, T., King, K., Madan, I., Michie, S., Przybylski, A., Shafran, R., Sweeney, A., Worthman, C. M., Yardley, L., Cowan, K., Cope, C., Hotopf, M., & Bullmore, E. (2020). Multidisciplinary research priorities for the COVID-19 pandemic: a call for action for mental health science. *The Lancet Psychiatry*.
- Hölzel, B. K., Lazar, S. W., Gard, T., Schuman-Olivier, Z., Vago, D. R., & Ott, U. (2011). How does mindfulness meditation work? Proposing mechanisms of action from a conceptual and neural perspective. *Perspectives on psychological science*, 6(6), 537-559.
- Isabella, R. A., & Belsky, J. (1991). Interactional synchrony and the origins of infant-mother attachment: A replication study. *Child development*, *62*(2), 373-384.
- Jent, J. F., Niec, L. N., & Baker, S. E. (2011). Play and interpersonal processes. *Play in clinical practice: evidence-based approaches. Guilford Press, New York.*
- Jiang, Y., You, J., Zheng, X., & Lin, M. P. (2017). The qualities of attachment with significant others and self-compassion protect adolescents from non suicidal self-injury. *School psychology quarterly*, 32(2), 143.
- Jones, S., Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., & MacKinnon, D. P. (2002). Parents' reactions to elementary school children's negative emotions: Relations to social and emotional functioning at school. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly (1982-)*, 133-159.

- Jones S. M., McGarrah, M. W., & Kahn, J. (2019) Social and Emotional Learning: A Principled Science of Human Development in Context, Educational Psychologist, 54:3, 129-143, doi: 10.1080/00461520.2019.1625776
- Kalb, L. G., Stapp, E. K., Ballard, E. D., Holingue, C., Keefer, A., & Riley, A. (2019). Trends in psychiatric emergency department visits among youth and young adults in the US. *Pediatrics*, 143(4), e20182192.
- Kim, E., Jackman, M. M., Jo, S. H., Oh, J., Ko, S. Y., McPherson, C. L., Hwang, Y., & Singh, N.
 N. (2020). Effectiveness of the Mindfulness-Based OpenMind-Korea (OM-K) Preschool Program. *Mindfulness*, 1-11.
- Kochanska, G., Aksan, N., & Joy, M. E. (2007). Children's fearfulness as a moderator of parenting in early socialization: Two longitudinal studies. *Developmental psychology*, 43(1), 222.
- Kochanska, G., Murray, K. T., & Harlan, E. T. (2000). Effortful control in early childhood:
 Continuity and change, antecedents, and implications for social
 development. *Developmental Psychology*, *36*(2), 220–232. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.36.2.220
- Kroes, G., Veerman, J. W., & De Bruyn, E. E. (2003). Bias in parental reports? Maternal psychopathology and the reporting of problem behavior in clinic-referred children. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 19(3), 195.
- Larwood, L., & Whittaker, W. (1977). Managerial myopia: Self-serving biases in organizational planning. *Journal of applied psychology*, *62*(2), 194.

- Leary, M. R., Tate, E. B., Adams, C. E., Batts Allen, A., & Hancock, J. (2007). Self-compassion and reactions to unpleasant self-relevant events: the implications of treating oneself kindly. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 92(5), 887.
- Leblanc, É., Dégeilh, F., Daneault, V., Beauchamp, M. H., & Bernier, A. (2017). Attachment security in infancy: A preliminary study of prospective links to brain morphometry in late childhood. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8. https://doiorg.argo.library.okstate.edu/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.02141
- Lewis, M., Alessandri, S. M., & Sullivan, M. W. (1992). Differences in shame and pride as a function of children's gender and task difficulty. *Child development*, *63*(3), 630-638.
- Lewis, M., & Ramsay, D. (2002). Cortisol response to embarrassment and shame. *Child development*, 73(4), 1034-1045.
- Lewis, M., & Ramsay, D. (2004). Development of self-recognition, personal pronoun use, and pretend play during the 2nd year. *Child development*, *75*(6), 1821-1831.
- Marshall, S. L., Parker, P. D., Ciarrochi, J., Sahdra, B., Jackson, C. J., & Heaven, P. C. (2015).
 Self-compassion protects against the negative effects of low self-esteem: A longitudinal study in a large adolescent sample. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 74, 116-121.
- McCaffrey, S., Reitman, D., & Black, R. (2017). Mindfulness in parenting questionnaire (MIPQ): development and validation of a measure of mindful parenting. *Mindfulness*, 8(1), 232-246.
- McCranie, E. W., & Bass, J. D. (1984). Childhood family antecedents of dependency and self-criticism: Implications for depression. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 93(1), 3–8. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.93.1.3

- Mead, GH. 1934. Mind, Self, and Society: From the Standpoint of a Social Behaviorist. Oxford, UK: Univ. Chicago Press.
- Messman-Moore, T. L., & Bhuptani, P. H. (2020). Self-compassion and Fear of Selfcompassion: Mechanisms Underlying the Link between Child Maltreatment Severity and Psychological Distress in College Women. *Mindfulness*, 1-14.
- Mikulincer, M., Gillath, O., Halevy, V., Avihou, N., Avidan, S., & Eshkoli, N. (2001).
 Attachment theory and reactions to others' needs: Evidence that activation of the sense of attachment security promotes empathic responses. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *81*(6), 1205.
- Modecki, K. L., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Guerra, N. (2017). Emotion regulation, coping, and decision making: Three linked skills for preventing externalizing problems in adolescence. *Child Development*, 88(2), 417-426.
- Moreira, H., Gouveia, M. J., & Canavarro, M. C. (2018). Is mindful parenting associated with adolescents' well-being in early and middle/late adolescence? The mediating role of adolescents' attachment representations, self-compassion and mindfulness. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *47*, 1771–1788. doi:10.1007/s10964-018-0808-7
- Morris, A. S., Criss, M. M., Silk, J. S., & Houltberg, B. J. (2017). The impact of parenting on emotion regulation during childhood and adolescence. *Child Development Perspectives*, 11(4), 233-238.
- Morris, A. S., Silk, J. S., Steinberg, L., Myers, S. S., & Robinson, L. R. (2007). The role of the family context in the development of emotion regulation. *Social development*, 16(2), 361-388.

- Muris, P., Meesters, C., Pierik, A., & de Kock, B. (2016). Good for the self: Self-compassion and other self-related constructs in relation to symptoms of anxiety and depression in nonclinical youths. *Journal of child and family studies*, 25(2), 607-617.
- Murray, L., & Cooper, P. J. (1997). Postpartum depression and child development. *Psychological medicine*, *27*(2), 253-260.
- Muzik, M., Rosenblum, K. L., Alfafara, E. A., Schuster, M. M., Miller, N. M., Waddell, R. M., & Kohler, E. S. (2015). Mom Power: Preliminary outcomes of a group intervention to improve mental health and parenting among high-risk mothers. *Archives of women's mental health*, 18(3), 507-521.
- Neff, K. D. (2003a). The development and validation of a scale to measure self-compassion. *Self and identity*, *2*(3), 223-250.
- Neff, K. D. (2003b). Self-compassion: An alternative conceptualization of a healthy attitude toward oneself. *Self and Identity, 2*: 85-101.
- Neff, K. D. (2009). The role of self-compassion in development: A healthier way to relate to oneself. *Human Development*, *52*, 211-214.
- Neff, K. D., Bluth, K., Tóth-Király, I., Davidson, O., Knox, M. C., Williamson, Z., & Costigan,
 A. (2020). Development and validation of the Self-Compassion Scale for Youth. *Journal* of Personality Assessment, 1-14.
- Neff, K. D., & Germer, C. K. (2013). A pilot study and randomized controlled trial of the mindful self-compassion program. *Journal of clinical psychology*, *69*(1), 28-44.
- Neff, K. D., & Germer, C. (2017). Self-compassion and psychological wellbeing. In J. Doty (Ed.), Oxford handbook of compassion science (pp. 371–386). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

- Neff, K. D., Hsieh, Y. P., & Dejitterat, K. (2005). Self-compassion, achievement goals, and coping with academic failure. *Self and identity*, *4*(3), 263-287.
- Neff, K. D., Kirkpatrick, K. & Rude, S. S. (2007). Self-compassion and its link to adaptive psychological functioning. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *41*, 139-154.
- Neff, K. D., & McGehee, P. (2010). Self-compassion and psychological resilience among adolescents and young adults. *Self and Identity*, *9*, 225-240.
- Neff, K. D., Pisitsungkagarn, K., & Hsieh, Y. P. (2008). Self-compassion and self-construal in the United States, Thailand, and Taiwan. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 39(3), 267-285.
- Neff, K. D., Rude, S. S., & Kirkpatrick, K. (2007). An examination of self-compassion in relation to positive psychological functioning and personality traits. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 41, 908-916.
- Neff, K. D., Tóth-Király, I., Yarnell, L. M., Arimitsu, K., Castilho, P., Ghorbani, N., Guo, H. X., Hirsch, J. K., Hupfeld, J., Hutz, C. S., Kotsou, I., Lee, W. K., Montero-Martin, J., Sirois, F. M., de Souza, L. K., Svendsen, J. L., Wilkinson, R. B., & Mantzios, M. (2019). Examining the factor structure of the Self-Compassion Scale in 20 diverse samples: Support for use of a total score and six subscale scores. *Psychological assessment*, *31*(1), 27.
- Neff, K. D. & Vonk, R. (2009). Self-compassion versus global self-esteem: Two different ways of relating to oneself. *Journal of Personality*, 77, 23-50.
- Onishi, K.H., Baillargeon, R. (2005). Do 15-month-old infants understand false beliefs? *Science*, 308, 255–258.

Ooi, L. L., Baldwin, D., Coplan, R. J., & Rose, K. L. (2018). Young children's preference for solitary play: Implications for socio-emotional and school adjustment. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 36(3), 501–507.

https://doi.org.argo.library.okstate.edu/10.1111/bjdp.12236

- Petterson, S. M., & Albers, A. B. (2001). Effects of poverty and maternal depression on early child development. *Child development*, *72*(6), 1794-1813.
- Piaget, J. (1963). The Origins of Intelligence in Children. New York: W&W Norton and Co.
- Raes, F., Pommier, E., Neff, K. D., & Van Gucht, D. (2011). Construction and factorial validation of a short form of the self-compassion scale. *Clinical psychology & psychotherapy*, 18(3), 250-255.
- Raskin, R., & Hall, C. S. (1979). A narcissistic personality inventory. *Psychological Reports, 45*, 590.
- Ravens-Sieberer, U., & Bullinger, M. (1998). Assessing health-related quality of life in chronically ill children with the German KINDL: First psychometric and content analytical results. *Quality of Life Research*, 7(5), 399-407. doi: 10.1023/A:1008853819715.
- Repacholi, B. M., & Gopnik, A. (1997). Early reasoning about desires: evidence from 14-and 18month-olds. *Developmental psychology*, 33(1), 12.
- Rieffe, C., Ketelaar, L., & Wiefferink, C.H. (2010). Assessing empathy in young children; construction and validation of an empathy questionnaire (EmQue). *Personality and Individual Differences*, 49, 362–367.
- Robitschek, C. (1998). Personal growth initiative: the construct and its measure. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development, 30*, 183–198.

- Rosenblum, K. L., Muzik, M., Morelen, D. M., Alfafara, E. A., Miller, N. M., Waddell, R. M., Schuster, M. M. & Ribaudo, J. (2017). A community-based randomized controlled trial of Mom Power parenting intervention for mothers with interpersonal trauma histories and their young children. *Archives of women's mental health*, 20(5), 673-686.
- Rothbart, M. K., Derryberry, D., & Posner, M. I. (1994). A psychobiological approach to the development of temperament.
- Rubin, K. H., Coplan, R. J., & Bowker, J. C. (2009). Social withdrawal in childhood. *Annual* review of psychology, 60, 141-171.
- Schwartz, D., Lansford, J. E., Dodge, K. A., Pettit, G. S., & Bates, J. E. (2013). The link between harsh home environments and negative academic trajectories is exacerbated by victimization in the elementary school peer group. *Developmental Psychology*, 49, 305-316. doi:10.1037/a0028249.
- Sharifi, K., Masoudi-Alavi, N., Tagharrobi, Z., Sooki, Z., Asgarian, F. S., & Akbari, H. (2011). Relationship between mothers' and daughters' self-esteem. *KAUMS Journal* (*FEYZ*), 15(4), 352-358.
- Sheffler, J. L., Stanley, I., & Sachs-Ericsson, N. (2020). ACEs and mental health outcomes. In *Adverse Childhood Experiences* (pp. 47-69). Academic Press.
- Shields, A. M., & Cicchetti, D. (1995). The development of an emotion regulation assessment battery: Reliability and validity among at-risk grade-school children. Paper presented at the biennial meeting of the Society for Research on Child Development, Indianapolis, IN, USA.

- Simonds, J., Kieras, J. E., Rueda, M. R., & Rothbart, M. K. (2007). Effortful control, executive attention, and emotional regulation in 7–10-year-old children. *Cognitive Development*, 22(4), 474-488.
- Skinner, E. A., Edge, K., Altman, J., & Sherwood, H. (2003). Searching for the structure of coping: a review and critique of category systems for classifying ways of coping. *Psychological bulletin*, *129*(2), 216.
- Slaughter, V., Imuta, K., Peterson, C. C., & Henry, J. D. (2015). Meta-analysis of theory of mind and peer popularity in the preschool and early school years. *Child development*, 86(4), 1159-1174.
- Sleddens, E. F., Hughes, S. O., O'Connor, T. M., Beltran, A., Baranowski, J. C., Nicklas, T. A.,
 & Baranowski, T. (2012). The Children's Behavior Questionnaire very short scale:
 psychometric properties and development of a one-item temperament
 scale. *Psychological reports*, *110*(1), 197-217.
- Southgate, V., Senju, A., & Csibra, G. (2007). Action anticipation through attribution of false belief by 2-year-olds. *Psychological science*, *18*(7), 587-592.
- Spinrad, T. L., Morris, A. S., & Luthar, S. S. (2020). Introduction to the special issue: Socialization of emotion and self-regulation: Understanding processes and application. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(3), 385.
- Spreng, R. N., McKinnon, M. C., Mar, R. A., & Levine, B. (2009). The Toronto Empathy Questionnaire: Scale development and initial validation of a factor-analytic solution to multiple empathy measures. *Journal of personality assessment*, 91(1), 62-71.
- Sroufe, L. A. (1983). Individual patterns of adaptation from infancy to preschool. In *Minnesota symposium on child psychology* (Vol. 16, pp. 41-85). Erlbaum Hillsdale, NJ.

- Stansbury, K., & Zimmermann, L. K. (1999). Relations among child language skills, maternal socialization of emotion regulation, and child behavior problems. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 30(2), 121-142.
- Stanton, A. L., Kirk, S. B., Cameron, C. L., & Danoff-Burg, S. (2000). Coping through emotional approach: Scale construction and validation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78, 1150–1169
- Stenberg, C. R., Campos, J. J., & Emde, R. N. (1983). The facial expression of anger in sevenmonth-old infants. *Child development*, 178-184.
- Stevens, T. R. (2014). *Children's mastery-oriented responses to failure: The effects of parental strategy feedback and attachment security.* Michigan State University.
- Stolow, D., Zuroff, D. C., Young, J. F., Karlin, R. A., & Abela, J. R. (2016). A prospective examination of self-compassion as a predictor of depressive symptoms in children and adolescents. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 35(1), 1-20.
- Takács, L., Kandrnal, V., Kaňková, Š., Bartoš, F., & Mudrák, J. (2020). The effects of pre-and post-partum depression on child behavior and psychological development from birth to pre-school age: a protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Systematic Reviews*, 9(1), 1-7.
- Thierry, K. L., Bryant, H. L., Nobles, S. S., & Norris, K. S. (2016). Two-year impact of a mindfulness-based program on preschoolers' self-regulation and academic performance. *Early Education and Development*, 27(6), 805-821.
- Trompetter, H. R., de Kleine, E., & Bohlmeijer, E. T. (2017). Why does positive mental health buffer against psychopathology? An exploratory study on self-compassion as a resilience

mechanism and adaptive emotion regulation strategy. *Cognitive therapy and research*, *41*(3), 459-468.

- Van Egeren Laurie A., Barratt Marguerite S., & Roach Mary A. (2001). Mother–infant responsiveness: Timing, mutual regulation, and interactional context. *Developmental Psychology*, 37(5), 684–697. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.37.5.684
- Vettese, L. C., Dyer, C. E., Li, W. L., & Wekerle, C. (2011). Does self-compassion mitigate the association between childhood maltreatment and later emotion regulation difficulties? A preliminary investigation. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 9(5), 480.
- Wakchlag, L. S., & Danis, B., (2009). Characterizing early childhood disruptive behavior:Enhancing developmental sensitivity. *Handbook of infant mental health*, 392-408.
- Waldinger, R. J., Schulz, M. S., Barsky, A. J. & Ahern, D. K. (2006). Mapping the road from childhood trauma to adult somatization: the role of attachment. *Psychosomatic. Medicine*, 68(1), 129–135
- Wei, M., Liao, K. Y. H., Ku, T. Y., & Shaffer, P. A. (2011). Attachment, self-compassion, empathy, and subjective well-being among college students and community adults. *Journal of personality*, 79(1), 191-221.
- Weinstein, N. D. (1980). Unrealistic optimism about future life events. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *39*(5), 806.
- Wellman, H. M., Cross, D., & Watson, J. (2001). Meta-analysis of theory-of-mind development: The truth about false belief. *Child development*, 72(3), 655-684.

- Westphal, M., Leahy, R. L., Pala, A. N., & Wupperman, P. (2016). Self-compassion and emotional invalidation mediate the effects of parental indifference on psychopathology. *Psychiatry research*, 242, 186-191.
- Woolley, M. E., & Bowen, G. L. (2007). In the Context of Risk: Supportive Adults and the School Engagement of Middle School Students. *Family Relations: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Applied Family Studies*, 56(1), 92–104. https://doiorg.argo.library.okstate.edu/10.1111/j.1741-3729.2007.00442.x
- Yang, Y., Zhang, M., & Kou, Y. (2016). Self-compassion and life satisfaction: The mediating role of hope. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 98, 91-95.
- Zelazo, P. D., Anderson, J. E., Richler, J., Wallner-Allen, K., Beaumont, J. L., & Weintraub, S. (2013). II. NIH Toolbox Cognition Battery (CB): Measuring executive function and attention. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 78(4), 16-33.
- Zeman, J., Shipman, K., & Penza-Clyve, S. (2001). Development and initial validation of the Children's Sadness Management Scale. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, *25*(3), 187-205.
- Zentall, S. R. (2010). Early parent-child relationship and type of parental praise and criticism as predictors of toddler motivation on an unsolvable task [ProQuest Information & Learning]. In *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering* (Vol. 71, Issue 5–B, p. 3386).
- Zero to Three (2016). Diagnostic classification of mental health and developmental disorders of infancy and early childhood: Revised edition (DC:0–5). Washington, DC: Author.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

TABLES

Table 1Descriptive Statistics for SCS-EC Items

	Item	М	SD	Min	Max	Skewness	Kurtosis
Positive SCS- EC Factor 1							
1.	My child quickly tries again when they fail at something that is important to them.	3.72	.820	2	5	329	312
2.	My child treats themselves the way they would treat a friend.	3.88	.822	2	5	355	392
3.	When my child is upset or disappointed they tend to seek out peers or family (such as mom, dad) for comfort and affection, more than for attention.	4.19	.861	1	5	994	.733
4.	My child shows openness to problem-solving strategies when dealing with negative feelings.	3.37	.859	2	5	016	690
5.	My child tends to recover quickly when their feelings are hurt.	3.78	.761	2	5	421	.055
Negative SCS-EC Factor 2							
1.	My child tends to doubt their own abilities when they attempt something new or challenging.	3.31	.881	1	5	283	.128
2.	When my child has trouble accomplishing a task they tend to give up quickly.	3.15	.863	1	5	286	293
3.	My child becomes easily frustrated with themselves when they approach a task that is clearly too challenging for them.	2.98	.949	1	5	120	841
4.	When my child fails at a task they are unlikely to make a second attempt.	3.77	.907	1	5	426	316
5.	My child tends to withdraw from others when sad or disappointed.	3.281	1.064	1	5	197	760

Variable	n	Percentage	Factor 1	Factor 2
			Positive SCS-EC	Negative SCS-EC
Age				
3 years vs Others	49	28.7%	.21**	22**
4 years vs Others	70	40.9%	.00	.02
5 years vs Others	51	29.8%	21**	.20*
Gender				
Male	77	44.8%		
Female	95	55.2%	.099	00
Parent Ethnicity				
White/Caucasian	145	84.8%	03	.01
African American	4	2.3%	.10	12
Hispanic	4	2.3%	.09	.02
Asian American	5	2.9%	06	.02
Other	13	7.6%	.00	.02
Income				
< annual \$40,000 vs all others	23	13.37%	.04	.00
> annual \$70,000 vs all others	111	64.5%	07	.03
Daily hours Prior to COVID-19				
20 + Hrs. with child prior vs Others	28	16.37%	20	05
10-20 Hrs. with child vs Others	63	36.84%	.12	01
Under 10 Hrs. with child vs Others	79	46.20%	11	.056
Daily hours During COVID-19				
20 + Hrs. with child vs Others	84	49.12%	.134	23*
10-20 Hrs. with child vs Others	65	38%	056	.147
Under 10 Hrs. with child vs Others	21	12.29%	071	.087
Total	171			

Table 2Demographic Sample Characteristics with the SCS-EC

Note: The total n for gender and COVID-19 categories are 172 and 170, respectively. ****** Correlation at .01 level (two-tailed).

Fit Indices	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Chi-Square <i>p</i> value	0.00	0.00	0.44
RMSEA estimate	0.15	0.02	0.00
RMSEA upper bound	0.19	0.19	0.15
CFI	0.69	0.83	1.00
SRMR	0.10	0.07	0.04

 Table 3

 Pilot Testing Goodness-of-Fit Indicator Model Comparisons for Factor 1

Fit Indices	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Chi-Square p value	0.01	0.11	0.97
RMSEA estimate	0.10	0.08	0.00
UB	0.14	0.14	0.00
CFI	0.83	0.94	1.00
SRMR	0.09	0.07	0.03

 Table 4

 Pilot Testing Goodness-of-Fit Indicator Model Comparisons for Factor 2

Model			RMSEA			
woder	χ^2	RMSEA	Upper bound	CFI	TLI	SRMR
Positive Subscale						
1	. 002	.104	.152	.905	.842	.056
2	.810	.000	.06	1.000	1.054	.018
Negative Subscale						
1	.001	.096	.135	.937	.905	.050
2	.119	.066	.137	.983	.967	.026
Combined Scale	.000	.076	.102	.922	.900	.054

 Table 5

 Goodness-of-Fit Model Comparisons for Positive and Negative Factors of the SCS-EC

Factor 1 Item Loadings	Factor 2 Item Loadings
1 .586	1 .720
2 .557	2 .757
3 .484	3 .739
4 .546	4 .660
5 .550	5 .303

Table 6CFA Factor Loadings for the SCS-EC

Table 7Goodness-of-Fit Indices for Parent and Child Emotion-Related Scales

Measures	α	χ²	RMSEA	CFI	TLI	SRMR
Early Childhood						
Factor 1. Positive SCS -EC	.726	.810	.000	1.000	1.054	.018
Factor 2. Negative SCS-EC	.756	.119	.066	.983	.967	.026
Emotion Regulation Checklist (ERC)	.729	.015	.070	.932	.899	.053
EmQue: attention to the feelings of others	.686	.008	.150	.932	.797	.057
Self-Esteem (Kiddy KINDL)	.792	.462	.000	1.000	1.005	.013
Emotional Well-Being (Kiddy KINDL)	.609	.046	.110	.943	.828	.037
Internalizing behaviors (CBCL)	.490	.900	.000	1.0	1.183	.026
Parents						
Self-Compassion – Short Form (SCS-SF)	.859	.000	.070	.937	1.916	.050
Cognitive Reappraisal (CR) factor	.869	.001	.116	.957	.928	.037
Expressive Suppression (ES) factor	.800	.081	.094	.986	.958	.024
Toronto Empathy Questionnaire (TEQ)	.836	.000	.074	.872	.845	.066

Table 8

Pearson's Correlations for Hypotheses Testing

Hypotheses Testing	N	SCS-EC Factor 1 r(p)	SCS-EC Factor 2 r(p)	ERC	Early Empathy
Validity					
Construct Validity with SCS-SF	171	.297**	322**		
Convergent Validity with ERC	171	.624**	436**		
Concurrent Validity with Self-Esteem	170	.495**	443**		
Concurrent Validity with Emotional Well- Being	170	.380**	458**		
Concurrent Validity with Empathy	168	.042	.005		
Correlations with emotion-related characteristics					
Effortful Control Temperament	171	.178*	125		
Negative/Affectivity Temperament	171	344**	.354**		
Internalizing behaviors	172	334**	.457**		
Preliminary Evidence of a Socialization Process					
Parent Self-Compassion	157	See Construct Validity			
Parent Cognitive Reappraisal	152			.116	
Parent Expressive Suppression	151			158*	
Parent Empathy	155				.113

** Correlation at .01 level (two-tailed).

APPENDIX B

SCS-EC 2-FACTOR MODEL

In this brief survey, please respond with the answer that best describes how often your child demonstrates the following behavior:

- 1. My child treats themselves the way they would treat a friend. (SK)
- 2. When my child is upset or disappointed they tend to seek out peers or family (such as mom, dad) for comfort and affection more than for attention. (CH)
- 3. My child quickly tries again when they fail at something that is important to them. (M)
- 4. My child shows openness to problem-solving strategies when dealing with negative feelings. (M)
- 5. My child tends to recover quickly when their feelings are hurt. (M)
- 6. My child tends to doubt their own abilities when they attempt something new or challenging. (SJ)
- 7. When my child has trouble accomplishing a task they trend to give up quickly. (SJ)
- 8. My child becomes easily frustrated with themselves when they approach a task that is clearly too challenging for them. (SJ)
- 9. My child tends to withdraw from others when sad or disappointed. (I)
- 10. When my child fails at a task they are unlikely to make a second attempt. (OI)

<u>Coding Key:</u> SK = Self-Kindness item CH = Common Humanity item M = Mindfulness item SJ = Self-Judgment item I = Isolation item OI = Over-Identification item

APPENDIX C

KEY DIFFERENCES BETWEEN SELF-COMPASSION AND SELF-ESTEEM

Self-Compassion (SC)	Self-Esteem (SE)
- Provided method of recovery through kindness practiced towards the self, an understanding of the shared human experience and nonjudgmental awareness of negative aspects of the personality (Neff, 2003b; Neff & Vonk, 2009).	 No provided method of recovery from low self-esteem or feelings of low self-worth (Neff & Vonk, 2009).
- Self-compassion is not associated with narcissism (Neff, 2003a).	- Several measures of self-esteem have been were revealed to correlate positively with narcissism including the Rosenberg SE Scale, Berger's Self-Acceptance Scale, Self- Determination Scale, and basic psychological needs subscales Autonomy, Competence and Relatedness (Neff, 2003a).
 Self-acceptance driven by self- kindness, common humanity and mindfulness driven (Neff, Kirkpatrick & Rude, 2007). 	- Self-acceptance driven by performance evaluations and social comparison (Neff, Kirkpatrick & Rude, 2007).
- Buffers against anxiety when faced with an ego-threat (Neff, Kirkpatrick & Rude, 2007).	- Does NOT buffer against anxiety when faced with an ego-threat (Neff, Kirkpatrick & Rude, 2007).
- Theorized to activate the self- soothing system, which allows for greater intimacy and effective emotional coping (Gilbert, 1989).	- Theorized to promote superiority or inferiority for the purpose of establishing social rank, which can activate the threat system (Gilbert & Irons, 2005).

APPENDIX D

SUPPORTING LITERATURE BEHIND MEASURE DEVELOPMENT OF THE SCS-EC

Self-Compassion Facet	Self-Kindness	Common Humanity	Mindfulness
Supporting Literate	Social Learning Theory (Bandura, 1977). Perspective-taking by 18 months and early empathy development (Repacholi, & Gopnik, 1997; Ensink & Mayes, 2010). Program teaching prosocial skills versus more self-focused control group (Flook et al., 2015).	Young children gravitate toward caregivers during distressful moments, while older children look to peers or problem- solve (Bernzweig et al., 1993; Eisenberg & Morris, 2002).	Demonstrated through effortful control in early childhood and assessed in multiple recent studies (Kochanska et al., 2000; Flook et al., 2015; Harpin et al., 2016).
Self-Compassion Facet	Self-Judgment	Isolation	Over- Identification
Supporting Literate	Early negative affect at 20 during unsolvable task predicted by maternal sensitivity (Zentall, 2010). Significant association between maternal self- criticism and criticisms of their child (Gravener et al., 2012).	Children who engaged in social withdrawal were at higher risk for experiencing peer difficulties (Coplan & Weeks, 2010). Frustration in language development indicative of social withdrawal in early childhood (Stansbury & Zimmermann, 1999).	Emerging self- views and self- evaluations are impacted by caregiver feedback. Negative feedback can lead to an underestimation of one's abilities (Gravener et al., 2012).

APPENDIX E

SELF-COMPASSION IN ADULTHOOD COMPARED TO EARLY CHILDHOOD

Self- Compassion Element	Adult SC (abstractly reported)	Adult Scale item	Early Childhood SC (concretely observed)	Child Scale Items
Self-Kindness	Extending love and patience toward oneself during emotional pain.	When I'm going through a very hard time, I give myself the caring and tenderness I need. I'm kind to myself when I'm experiencing suffering.	Early child demonstrations of kind treatment toward themselves, similar to what is extended toward peers.	My child treats themselves they would treat a friend.
Common Humanity	Positive cognitive reappraisal during challenges in acknowledging that disappointment and failure is shared by all humans.	When times are really difficult, I tend to be tough on myself.	Seeking out social resources (i.e., attachment figure) during challenging or distressful situations.	When my child is upset or disappointed, they tend to seek out peers or family (such as mom, dad) for comfort and affection, more than for attention.
Mindfulness	Maintaining emotional balance, and a healthy perspective of the situation without blowing things out of proportion.	When I'm down and out, I remind myself that there are lots of other people in the world feeling like I am.	Effortful control demonstrated in calming oneself down during distress, openness to problem-solving.	My child shows openness to problem- solving strategies when dealing with negative feelings.
Self- Judgment	Toughness toward oneself about flaws and shortcomings.	When I think about my inadequacies, it tends to make me feel more separate and cut off from the rest of the world. When I fail at something that's important to me, I tend to feel alone in my failure.	Low confidence in abilities, self-doubt during challenges.	My child tends to doubt their own abilities when they attempt something new or challenging.

Isolation	Feeling separate and cut off from the world and detached from the experiences of others.	When something painful happens, I try to take a balanced view of the situation. When I'm feeling down I try to approach my feelings with curiosity and openness.	Preference for aloneness during emotional distress, social withdrawal.	My child tends to withdraw from others when sad or disappointed.
Over- identification	Tendency to blow issues out of proportion and over- identify with failure. Feeling consumed by failure.	When something upsets me, I get carried away with my feelings. When I fail at something important to me I become consumed by feelings of inadequacy.	Low likelihood to 'try again' after failure, refusal to solve the problem.	When my child fails at a task, they are unlikely to make a second attempt.

APPENDIX F

INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL

Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board

Adaptation and Validation of a Scale for Measuring Self-Compassion in Early Childhood

Date: Application Number: Proposal Title:

Principal Investigator: Co-Investigator(s): Faculty Adviser: Payton Project Coordinator: Research Assistant(s):

Processed as: Expedited Category:

Status Recommended by Reviewer(s): Approved Approval Date: 12/13/2019

The IRB application referenced above has been approved. It is the judgment of the reviewers that the rights and welfare of individuals who may be asked to participate in this study will be respected, and that the research will be conducted in a manner consistent with the IRB requirements as outlined in section 45 CFR 46.

This study meets criteria in the Revised Common Rule, as well as, one or more of the circumstances for which <u>continuing</u> <u>review is not required</u>. As Principal Investigator of this research, you will be required to submit a status report to the IRB triennially.

The final versions of any recruitment, consent, and assent documents bearing the IRB approval stamp are available for download from IRBManager. These are the versions that must be used during the study.

As Principal Investigator, it is your responsibility to do the following:

- 1. Conduct this study exactly as it has been approved. Any modifications to the research protocol must be approved by the IRB. Protocol modifications requiring approval may include changes to the title, PI, adviser, other research personnel, funding status or sponsor, subject population composition or size, recruitment, inclusion/exclusion criteria, research site, research procedures and consent/assent process or forms.
- 2. Submit a status report to the IRB when requested
- 3. Promptly report to the IRB any harm experienced by a participant that is both unanticipated and related per IRB policy.
- 4. Maintain accurate and complete study records for evaluation by the OSU IRB and, if applicable, inspection by regulatory agencies and/or the study sponsor.
- 5. Notify the IRB office when your research project is complete or when you are no longer affiliated with Oklahoma State University.

If you have questions about the IRB procedures or need any assistance from the Board, please contact the IRB Office at 405-744-3377 or irb@okstate.edu.

Sincerely, Oklahoma State University IRB Jillian Bailey ISAAC WASHBURN Amy

12/13/2019

HS-19-65

VITA

Jillian LeRae Bailey

Candidate for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Dissertation: ADAPTATION AND VALIDATION OF A SCALE FOR MEASURING SELF-COMPASSION IN EARLY CHILDHOOD

Major Field: Human Sciences

Biographical:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy in Human Sciences at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in July, 2020.

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Child Development at San Diego State University, San Diego, California in 2015.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Science in Psychology at Oregon State University, Corvallis, Oregon in 2013.

Professional Memberships:

Oklahoma Association for Infant Mental Health Oklahoma Child Care Association